Published for SISSA by 2 Springer

RECEIVED: May 13, 2022 REVISED: August 24, 2022 ACCEPTED: October 12, 2022 PUBLISHED: October 25, 2022

The axion-photon mixing in non-linear electrodynamic scenarios

J.M.A. Paixão \bigcirc , ^a L.P.R. Ospedal \bigcirc , ^{a,b} M.J. Neves \bigcirc ^c and J.A. Helayël-Neto^a

^a Centro Brasileiro de Pesquisas Físicas,

ABSTRACT: In this contribution, we re-assess some aspects of axionic electrodynamics by coupling non-linear electromagnetic effects to axion physics. We present a number of motivations to justify the coupling of the axion to the photon in terms of a general nonlinear extension of the electromagnetic sector. Our emphasis in the paper relies on the investigation of the constitutive permittivity and permeability tensors, for which the axion contributes by introducing dependence on the frequency and wave vector of the propagating radiation. Also, we point out how the axion mass and the axion-photon-photon coupling constant contribute to a dispersive behavior of the electromagnetic waves, in contrast to what happens in the case of non-linear extensions, when effective refractive indices appear which depend only on the direction of the propagation with respect to the external fields. The axion changes this picture by yielding refractive indices with dependence on the wavelength. We apply our results to the special case of the (non-birefringent) Born-Infeld Electrodynamics and we show that it becomes birefringent whenever the axion is coupled. The paper is supplemented by an appendix, where we follow our own path to approach the recent discussion on a controversy in the definition of the Poynting vector of axionic electrodynamics.

KEYWORDS: Axions and ALPs, New Light Particles

ArXiv ePrint: 2205.05442



Rua Dr. Xavier Sigaud 150, Urca, CEP 22290-180, Rio de Janeiro, Brazil

^bInstituto de Física, Universidade Federal do Rio Grande do Sul,

Av. Bento Gonçalves 9500, CEP 91501-970, Porto Alegre, Brazil

^cDepartamento de Física, Universidade Federal Rural do Rio de Janeiro, BR 465-07, CEP 23890-971, Seropédica, RJ, Brazil

E-mail: jeff@cbpf.br, leonardo.ospedal@ufrgs.br, mariojr@ufrrj.br, helayel@cbpf.br

Contents

1	Introduction	1
2	Non-linear electrodynamics coupled to an axionic scalar field	4
3	The dispersion relations in the presence of magnetic and electric ba	ck-
	ground fields	6
	3.1 The magnetic background case	9
	3.2 The electric background case	11
4	Application to the axion-Born-Infeld model	12
	4.1 The axion-BI model in a magnetic background	13
	4.2 The axion-BI model in an electric background	15
5	The birefringence in the non-linear ED axion model	16
	5.1 Birefringence in the axion-BI model with a magnetic background field	16
	5.2 Birefringence in the axion-BI model with an electric background field	17
6	Concluding comments	18
\mathbf{A}	The energy-momentum tensor of the axionic non-linear electrodynam	nics
	model	19

1 Introduction

Axions are actively investigated in the literature ever since their proposal by Peccei and Quinn to solve the problem of strong CP-violation [1, 2]. More generally, inspired by axionic QCD, Axion-like Particles (ALPs) are treated as pseudo Nambu-Goldstone bosons that arise in various extensions of the Standard Model (SM), and are promising candidates for a dark matter portion in the universe [3–5]. Unlike of the axionic QCD, in which axions couple with the gluons, the scalar ALPs (ϕ) couple with the photon through the interaction $g_{a\gamma} \phi$ ($\mathbf{E} \cdot \mathbf{B}$), where $g_{a\gamma}$ is a coupling constant with length dimension. Several efforts have been made in an attempt to detect these particles, whether in astrophysical observations or in terrestrial experiments such as particle accelerators, or high-intensity lasers. It is important to emphasize the huge range of possibilities for the mass of the ALPs. In this sense, there are two perspectives in the search for ALPs, the first one takes into account the scattering processes that are capable of producing ALPs in the mass range eV – TeV. The second one considers astrophysical observations, where it is capable to produce ALPs with an upper bound for the mass which may be in the range of $10^{-10} \text{ eV} - 30 \text{ KeV}$ [6]. For instance, the Chandra's data analysis for the active galactic nucleus NGC 1275 at the center of the Perseus cluster provides the most stringent limit on the ALP-photon coupling constant for very light ALPs, i.e., $g_{a\gamma} < (6.3 - 7.9) \times 10^{-13} \,\text{GeV}^{-1}$ for $m_a < 10^{-12} \,\text{eV}$ depending on the magnetic field, at 99.7% confidence level [7]. Recent searches for ALP-Photon resonant conversion on magnetar SGR J1745-2900 exclude couplings $g_{a\gamma} > 10^{-12} \,\text{GeV}^{-1}$ for $m_a \leq 10^{-6} \,\text{eV}$ [8]. Another well-established limit was obtained in CAST, which searches for axions coming from the solar core by converting the X-rays into axions via a magnetic field up to 9.5 T. They report the upper limit on the $g_{a\gamma} \simeq 0.66 \times 10^{-10} \,\text{GeV}^{-1}$ for $m_a < 0.02 \,\text{eV}$ at 95% confidence level [9].

For larger values of the ALPs masses, we must take into account the bounds obtained by experiments in particle accelerators. As example, axions can be produced in the reaction $\gamma\gamma \rightarrow \phi \rightarrow \gamma\gamma$ through the Primakoff-process at the LHC. In this case, there is a wide range for the ALPs masses, ranging from eV to TeV scale [10-12]. For lead-lead collisions, the exclusion limits for the ALP masses is $m_a \simeq (5-100)$ GeV, for a coupling constant of $g_{a\gamma} \simeq 0.05 \,\mathrm{TeV}^{-1}$ at 95 % confidence level [13]. Since ALPs are searched for in experiments with intense magnetic fields, it is reasonable to expect that non-linear effects might be excited in this situation. They may arise whenever magnetic fields are close to the critical Schwinger magnetic field, $|\mathbf{B}|_S = m_e^2/q_e = 4.41 \times 10^9 \,\mathrm{T}$ [14]. In astrophysical searches for ALPs, there are cases of blazars and magnetars with magnetic fields of the order or higher than the critical Schwinger magnetic field [8, 15, 16]. In a recent work, it has been discovered that non-linearities can also arise at low magnetic fields in a QED level for the so-called Dirac materials. In this case, strong non-linear effects arise in dirac materials for a magnetic field strength of approximately 1 T [17]. Several non-linear theories are candidates to extension of the Maxwell electrodynamics (ED) in the literature [18-24]. One of the most known is the Born-Infeld (BI) ED that was originally proposed to remove the singularity of the electric field of a point-like charged particle at the origin [25]. It is worth mentioning that BI electrodynamics was investigated in a scenario involving axions, in which the analog of Snell's law was found considering an axionic domain wall [26]. Currently, the BI ED emerges in scenarios of superstring theory, quantum-gravitational models and magnetic monopoles [27-33]. The measurement of the light-by-light scattering at the ATLAS Collaboration of the LHC imposes a lower bound $\gtrsim\,100\,{\rm GeV}$ on the BI parameter [34]. More stringent bounds on the BI parameter are also discussed in the electroweak model with the hypercharge sector associated with the BI model [35].

It is known that the vacuum can be considered as a non-linear optical medium and that this concept applies to the standard model of elementary particles [36]. In this sense, non-linear ED models may present dichroism and vacuum birefringence phenomena. In particular, the vacuum magnetic birefringence (VMB) is a macroscopic quantum effect predicted by QED [37, 38] in which the difference of the refractive indices between parallel and perpendicular polarized light is non-trivial in the presence of an external magnetic field. The PVLAS (Polarisation of Vacuum with LASER) experiment carried out 25 years of efforts in the search for the vacuum birefringence and dichroism, and although it did not reach the values predicted by the QED, it established the best limits known so far [39–42]. Although the VBM has not yet been directly detected, the indirect evidence has been found in the neutron star RX J1856.5 – 3754, with magnetic fields on the order of

 10^{13} Gauss (G) [43]. It is interesting to notice that the VBM phenomenon can be a tool for the detection of ALPs, where it is known that the conversion of photons into axions changes the polarization of the incident beam by means of a magnetic background field. Thereby, a measure of the birefringence can provide important limits on the axion mass and the coupling constant $g_{a\gamma}$ [44, 45]. In this direction, we point out that the birefringence effects related to the axion field in the presence of a laser beam were investigated in ref. [46]. We also highlight that the birefringence phenomena associated with a pure electric background field is due to the optical Kerr effect [47, 48].

At this stage, it should be mentioned that other extensions of the Maxwell electrodynamics (ED) coupled to the axion field have been investigated in the literature. For instance, in a seminal paper by Raffelt and Stodolsky [49], the authors included the nonlinear effects of the Euler-Heisenberg electrodynamics and obtain the correspondent dispersion relations of the non-linear photon. We also highlight that the axion field theory was considered in connection with high-order derivative Podolsky ED [50], where the effective photonic theory and the inter-particle potential were carried out. Similarly, the axion field contributions were investigated in the context of non-commutative field theories [51, 52]. Furthermore, in the work of ref. [53], by using the Proca theory, the authors analyzed the influence of a massive photon and its effects on the axion-photon mixing. Later, the axion-Proca ED was obtained as an effective field theory in a Condensed Matter system [54]. Recently, new extensions involving a hidden photon (another massive dark matter candidate) coupled to the axion and photon fields have been proposal in the literature [55, 56]. The propagation effects in the presence of extra CPT-odd terms also motivate other extensions of the Maxwell ED [57]. The study of the constitutive relations on the wave propagation in bi-isotropic and anisotropic media has applications in material physics [58]. Axionlike couplings can be generated via quantum corrections in a Lorentz violation background [59].

In this paper, we propose the study of a general non-linear ED coupled to an axionic scalar field, that we call ϕ , coupled to the non-linear sector through the interaction $q \phi$ (**E**₀ · **B**₀). We start the description of the model with a general non-linear kinetic sector. We expand the 4-potential associated with electromagnetic (EM) fields $(\mathbf{E}_0, \mathbf{B}_0)$ around an EM background up to second order in the propagating EM fields. Thereby, we have a general linearized ED propagating in an EM background field coupled to an axionic scalar field. We explore the propagation effects for the plane wave solutions in which the dispersion relations, the group velocities, the electric permittivity, and the magnetic permeability are obtained in a uniform and constant EM background fields. The Born-Infeld (BI) non-linear theory is considered as an application of these results. Therefore, we discuss the properties of the wave propagation, like the dispersion relations, group velocities and the characteristics of the medium in the presence of an external magnetic field, and posteriorly, of an external electric field. We analyze the results in a regime of strong magnetic field for the BI theory. The birefringence phenomena is also investigated in the BI theory for the cases with magnetic and electric background fields, separately. In the case of the birefringence with a magnetic background, we calculate the axion coupling constant using the data of the PVLAS-FE experiment. For the birefringence with an electric background, we make a connection with the optical Kerr effect.

The paper is organized with the following outline. In section 2, we describe the nonlinear ED-axion model in an EM background, and obtain the corresponding field equations for the axion and photon. Next, section 3 focus on the properties of plane wave solutions and we organize our results in two subsections: the first subsection 3.1 considers the purely magnetic background case. The second subsection 3.2 discusses a purely electric background. In section 4, we apply all the results of the previous section to BI ED, for a magnetic background in subsection 4.1; next, we go into a purely electric background in subsection 4.2. After that, in section 5, we investigate the birefringence of the axion-BI model for a wave in a magnetic (subsection 5.1) and in an electric background (subsection 5.2). Section 6 casts our Concluding Comments. Finally, we include an appendix A, where the energy-momentum tensor of a general non-linear ED and the corresponding conserved quantities are obtained in a constant and uniform EM background.

Throughout this paper, we adopt natural units $\hbar = c = 1$ with $4\pi\epsilon_0 = 1$, and the Minkowski metric $\eta^{\mu\nu} = \text{diag}(+1, -1, -1, -1)$. The electric and magnetic fields have squared-energy mass dimension in which the conversion of Volt/m and Tesla (T) to the natural system is as follows: $1 \text{ Volt/m} = 2.27 \times 10^{-24} \text{ GeV}^2$ and $1 \text{ T} = 6.8 \times 10^{-16} \text{ GeV}^2$, respectively.

2 Non-linear electrodynamics coupled to an axionic scalar field

We start up with the Lagrangian (density) of the model

$$\mathcal{L} = \mathcal{L}_{nl}(\mathcal{F}_0, \mathcal{G}_0) + \frac{1}{2} (\partial_\mu \phi)^2 - \frac{1}{2} m^2 \phi^2 + g \phi \mathcal{G}_0 - J_\mu A^\mu , \qquad (2.1)$$

where $\mathcal{L}_{nl}(\mathcal{F}_0, \mathcal{G}_0)$ denotes the most general Lagrangian of a non-linear electrodynamics that is function of the Lorentz- and gauge-invariant bilinears $\mathcal{F}_0 = -\frac{1}{4} F_{0\mu\nu}^2$, and $\mathcal{G}_0 = -\frac{1}{4} F_{0\mu\nu} \tilde{F}_0^{\mu\nu}$. We consider the antisymmetric field strength tensor as $F_0^{\mu\nu} = \partial^{\mu} A_0^{\nu} - \partial^{\nu} A_0^{\mu} = \left(-E_0^{\ i}, -\epsilon^{ijk} B_0^{\ k}\right)$, and the correspondent dual tensor is $\tilde{F}_0^{\mu\nu} = \epsilon^{\mu\nu\alpha\beta} F_{0\alpha\beta}/2 = \left(-B_0^{\ i}, \epsilon^{ijk} E_0^{\ k}\right)$, which satisfies the Bianchi identity $\partial_{\mu} \tilde{F}_0^{\mu\nu} = 0$. Therefore, in terms of electromagnetic fields, the invariants are $\mathcal{F}_0 = \frac{1}{2} \left(\mathbf{E}_0^2 - \mathbf{B}_0^2\right)$ and $\mathcal{G}_0 = \mathbf{E}_0 \cdot \mathbf{B}_0$. In addition, ϕ corresponds to the axion field with mass m, and g is the non-minimal coupling constant (with length dimension) of the axion with the electromagnetic field, i.e., the usual coupling with the \mathcal{G}_0 -invariant. There are many investigations and experiments to constraint the possible regions in the space of the parameters g and m, which still remains with a wide range of values, depending on the phenomenological scale in analysis. For more details, we point out the recent reviews [60, 61].¹

The action principle related to the Lagrangian (2.1) leads to the motion equations with a classical external current J^{ν} :

$$\partial_{\mu} \left(\frac{\partial \mathcal{L}_{nl}}{\partial \mathcal{F}_0} F_0^{\mu\nu} + \frac{\partial \mathcal{L}_{nl}}{\partial \mathcal{G}_0} \widetilde{F}_0^{\mu\nu} \right) = -g \left(\partial_{\mu} \phi \right) \widetilde{F}_0^{\mu\nu} + J^{\nu} , \qquad (2.2a)$$

$$\left(\Box + m^2\right)\phi = g \mathcal{G}_0, \qquad (2.2b)$$

in which the current is conserved $\partial_{\mu}J^{\mu} = 0$.

¹See section 90 of [61]: Axions and Other Similar Particles.

We expand the abelian gauge field as $A_0^{\mu} = a^{\mu} + A_B^{\mu}$, with a^{μ} being the photon 4potential, and A_B^{μ} denotes a background potential. In this conjecture, the tensor $F_0^{\mu\nu}$ is also written as the combination $F_0^{\mu\nu} = f^{\mu\nu} + F_B^{\mu\nu}$, in which $f^{\mu\nu} = \partial^{\mu}a^{\nu} - \partial^{\nu}a^{\mu} = \left(-e^i, -\epsilon^{ijk}b^k\right)$ is the EM field strength tensor that propagates in the space-time, and $F_B^{\mu\nu} = \left(-E^i, -\epsilon^{ijk}B^k\right)$ corresponds to the EM background field. The notation of the 4-vector and tensors with index (B) indicates that it is associated with the background. At this stage, we consider the general case in which the background depends on the spacetime coordinates. Under this prescription, we also expand the Lagrangian (2.1) around the background up to second order in the propagating field a^{μ} to yield the expression

$$\mathcal{L}^{(2)} = -\frac{1}{4}c_1 f_{\mu\nu}^2 - \frac{1}{4}c_2 f_{\mu\nu}\tilde{f}^{\mu\nu} - \frac{1}{2}G_{B\mu\nu}f^{\mu\nu} + \frac{1}{8}Q_{B\mu\nu\kappa\lambda}f^{\mu\nu}f^{\kappa\lambda} + \frac{1}{2}(\partial_{\mu}\phi)^2 - \frac{1}{2}m^2\phi^2 - \frac{1}{2}g\phi\tilde{F}_{B\mu\nu}f^{\mu\nu} + g\phi\mathcal{G}_B - J_{\mu}a^{\mu} - J_{\mu}A_B^{\mu} + \mathcal{L}_{nl}(\mathcal{F}_B,\mathcal{G}_B), \qquad (2.3)$$

where the background tensors are defined by

$$G_{B\mu\nu} = c_1 F_{B\mu\nu} + c_2 F_{B\mu\nu} ,$$

$$Q_{B\mu\nu\kappa\lambda} = d_1 F_{B\mu\nu} F_{B\kappa\lambda} + d_2 \widetilde{F}_{B\mu\nu} \widetilde{F}_{B\kappa\lambda} + d_3 F_{B\mu\nu} \widetilde{F}_{B\kappa\lambda} + d_3 \widetilde{F}_{B\mu\nu} F_{B\kappa\lambda} , \qquad (2.4)$$

and $\mathcal{L}_{nl}(\mathcal{F}_B, \mathcal{G}_B)$ is the non-linear Lagrangian as function of the Lorentz invariants $\mathcal{F}_B = -\frac{1}{4}F_{B\mu\nu}^2 = \mathbf{E}^2 - \mathbf{B}^2$ and $\mathcal{G}_B = -\frac{1}{4}F_{B\mu\nu}\tilde{F}_B^{\mu\nu} = \mathbf{E}\cdot\mathbf{B}$, both in terms of the EM background field, and $\tilde{F}_B^{\mu\nu} = \epsilon^{\mu\nu\alpha\beta}F_{B\alpha\beta}/2 = (-B^i, \epsilon^{ijk}E^k)$ is the dual tensor of $F_{B\mu\nu}$. Furthermore, the coefficients c_1, c_2, d_1, d_2 and d_3 are evaluated at \mathbf{E} and \mathbf{B} , as follows:

$$c_{1} = \frac{\partial \mathcal{L}_{nl}}{\partial \mathcal{F}_{0}}\Big|_{\mathbf{E},\mathbf{B}}, \ c_{2} = \frac{\partial \mathcal{L}_{nl}}{\partial \mathcal{G}_{0}}\Big|_{\mathbf{E},\mathbf{B}}, \ d_{1} = \frac{\partial^{2} \mathcal{L}_{nl}}{\partial \mathcal{F}_{0}^{2}}\Big|_{\mathbf{E},\mathbf{B}}, \ d_{2} = \frac{\partial^{2} \mathcal{L}_{nl}}{\partial \mathcal{G}_{0}^{2}}\Big|_{\mathbf{E},\mathbf{B}}, \ d_{3} = \frac{\partial^{2} \mathcal{L}_{nl}}{\partial \mathcal{F}_{0} \partial \mathcal{G}_{0}}\Big|_{\mathbf{E},\mathbf{B}},$$
(2.5)

that depend on the EM field magnitude and it may also be functions of the space-time coordinates. Following the previous definitions of the tensors, we have that $G_{B\mu\nu} = -G_{B\nu\mu}$, and $Q_{B\mu\nu\kappa\lambda}$ is symmetric under exchange $\mu\nu \leftrightarrow \kappa\lambda$, and antisymmetric when $\mu \leftrightarrow \nu$ or $\kappa \leftrightarrow \lambda$. Note that the current J^{μ} also couples to the external potential $A_B^{\ \mu}$, but this term and $\mathcal{L}_{nl}(\mathcal{F}_B,\mathcal{G}_B)$ are irrelevant for the field equations in which we are interested. If we consider the scalar potential as $V(\phi) = m^2 \phi^2/2 - g \phi \mathcal{G}_B$, it has a minimal at $\phi_0 = g \mathcal{G}_B/m^2$. Writing $\phi = \tilde{\phi} + \phi_0$, the term $g \phi \mathcal{G}_B$ can be eliminated in the Lagrangian (2.3):

$$\mathcal{L}^{(2)} = -\frac{1}{4} c_1 f_{\mu\nu}^2 - \frac{1}{4} c_2 f_{\mu\nu} \tilde{f}^{\mu\nu} - \frac{1}{2} H_{B\mu\nu} f^{\mu\nu} + \frac{1}{8} Q_{B\mu\nu\kappa\lambda} f^{\mu\nu} f^{\kappa\lambda} + \frac{1}{2} (\partial_\mu \tilde{\phi})^2 - \frac{1}{2} m^2 \tilde{\phi}^2 - \frac{1}{2} g \tilde{\phi} \tilde{F}_{B\mu\nu} f^{\mu\nu} - J_\mu a^\mu - J_\mu A_B^\mu + \mathcal{L}_{nl} (\mathcal{F}_B, \mathcal{G}_B) + \frac{g^2 \mathcal{G}_B^2}{2m^2}, \qquad (2.6)$$

where $H_{B\mu\nu} = G_{B\mu\nu} + g^2 \mathcal{G}_B \tilde{F}_{B\mu\nu}/m^2$. In this context, the scalar field $\tilde{\phi}$ is reinterpreted as the axion field with mass m. It should be noted that ϕ_0 is non-trivial only in the presence of both electric and magnetic background fields.

Using the action principle in relation to a^{μ} , the Lagrangian (2.6) yields the EM field equations with source J^{μ}

$$\partial^{\mu} \left[c_1 f_{\mu\nu} + c_2 \widetilde{f}_{\mu\nu} - \frac{1}{2} Q_{B\mu\nu\kappa\lambda} f^{\kappa\lambda} \right] = -g \left(\partial^{\mu} \widetilde{\phi} \right) \widetilde{F}_{B\mu\nu} - \partial^{\mu} H_{B\mu\nu} + J_{\nu} \quad , \qquad (2.7)$$

and the Bianchi identity remains the same one for the photon field, namely, $\partial_{\mu} \tilde{f}^{\mu\nu} = 0$. The action principle related to $\tilde{\phi}$ in eq. (2.6), now yields the axion field equation evaluated at the EM background:

$$\left(\Box + m^2\right)\widetilde{\phi} = -\frac{1}{2}g\,\widetilde{F}_{B\mu\nu}\,f^{\mu\nu}\,.$$
(2.8)

Notice that, when we fix $c_1 = 1$ and $d_1 = d_2 = d_3 = 0$, the non-linear effects disappear, and we have the usual Maxwell ED coupled to the axion field and EM background. In the limit $g \to 0$, the axion uncouples the photon field, and we have a simple combination of a massive free scalar field with the Maxwell ED. Moreover, the Maxwell equations also are recovered in eq. (2.7) by taking the aforementioned considerations and turn-off the background fields, $F_{B\mu\nu} = 0$.

3 The dispersion relations in the presence of magnetic and electric background fields

In this section, we obtain the dispersion relations (DRs) associated with the axion and photon fields in the presence of a uniform and constant electromagnetic background. Thereby, from now on, all the coefficients defined in eq. (2.5) are not dependent on the space-time coordinates. We start with the equations written in terms of the fields \mathbf{e} and \mathbf{b} . For the study of the wave propagation, we just consider the linear terms in \mathbf{e} , \mathbf{b} and $\tilde{\phi}$, as well as the equations with no current and source, $\mathbf{J} = \mathbf{0}$ and $\rho = 0$. Under these conditions, the modified electrodynamics from eq. (2.7) and Bianchi identity is read below:

$$\nabla \cdot \mathbf{D} = 0,$$
 $\nabla \times \mathbf{e} + \frac{\partial \mathbf{b}}{\partial t} = \mathbf{0},$ (3.1a)

$$\nabla \cdot \mathbf{b} = 0, \qquad \nabla \times \mathbf{H} - \frac{\partial \mathbf{D}}{\partial t} = \mathbf{0}, \qquad (3.1b)$$

where the vectors \mathbf{D} and \mathbf{H} are given by

$$\mathbf{D} = c_1 \mathbf{e} + d_1 \mathbf{E} (\mathbf{E} \cdot \mathbf{e}) + d_2 \mathbf{B} (\mathbf{B} \cdot \mathbf{e}) - d_1 \mathbf{E} (\mathbf{B} \cdot \mathbf{b}) + d_2 \mathbf{B} (\mathbf{E} \cdot \mathbf{b}) + g \phi \mathbf{B}, \quad (3.2a)$$

$$\mathbf{H} = c_1 \mathbf{b} - d_1 \mathbf{B} (\mathbf{B} \cdot \mathbf{b}) - d_2 \mathbf{E} (\mathbf{E} \cdot \mathbf{b}) + d_1 \mathbf{B} (\mathbf{E} \cdot \mathbf{e}) - d_2 \mathbf{E} (\mathbf{B} \cdot \mathbf{e}) - g \widetilde{\phi} \mathbf{E}. \quad (3.2b)$$

Observe that, in eqs. (3.2a) and (3.2b), we have eliminated the terms with dependence on the coefficient d_3 , since $d_3 = 0$ in the non-linear ED model in which we will consider ahead. The axion field equation (2.8) leads to

$$\left(\Box + m^2\right)\widetilde{\phi} = g\left(\mathbf{e}\cdot\mathbf{B}\right) + g\left(\mathbf{b}\cdot\mathbf{E}\right) \,. \tag{3.3}$$

We write the Fourier integrals for the fields **e**, **b** and $\tilde{\phi}$ such that the field equations (3.1a), (3.1b) and (3.3) in momentum space are given by:

$$\mathbf{k} \cdot \mathbf{D}_0 = 0, \qquad \mathbf{k} \times \mathbf{e}_0 - \omega \, \mathbf{b}_0 = \mathbf{0}, \qquad (3.4a)$$

$$\mathbf{k} \cdot \mathbf{b}_0 = 0, \qquad \qquad \mathbf{k} \times \mathbf{H}_0 + \omega \, \mathbf{D}_0 = \mathbf{0}, \qquad (3.4b)$$

$$\left(\mathbf{k}^{2}-\omega^{2}+m^{2}\right)\widetilde{\phi}_{0}=g\left(\mathbf{B}\cdot\mathbf{e}_{0}\right)+g\left(\mathbf{E}\cdot\mathbf{b}_{0}\right),\qquad(3.4c)$$

where the amplitudes D_{0i} and H_{0i} are functions of the **k**-wave vector and the frequency ω . In terms of the electric and magnetic amplitudes e_{0i} and b_{0i} , we obtain

$$D_{0i}(\mathbf{k},\omega) = \varepsilon_{ij}(\mathbf{k},\omega) e_{0j} + \sigma_{ij}(\mathbf{k},\omega) b_{0j}, \qquad (3.5a)$$

$$H_{0i}(\mathbf{k},\omega) = -\sigma_{ji}(\mathbf{k},\omega) e_{0j} + (\mu^{-1})_{ij}(\mathbf{k},\omega) b_{0j}, \qquad (3.5b)$$

in which the electric permittivity symmetric tensor $\varepsilon_{ij}(\mathbf{k},\omega)$ and $\sigma_{ij}(\mathbf{k},\omega)$ are defined by

$$\varepsilon_{ij}(\mathbf{k},\omega) = c_1 \,\delta_{ij} + d_1 \,E_i \,E_j + d_2 \,B_i \,B_j + \frac{g^2 \,B_i \,B_j}{\mathbf{k}^2 - \omega^2 + m^2} \,, \tag{3.6a}$$

$$\sigma_{ij}(\mathbf{k},\omega) = -d_1 E_i B_j + d_2 B_i E_j + \frac{g^2 B_i E_j}{\mathbf{k}^2 - \omega^2 + m^2}.$$
 (3.6b)

In addition, μ^{-1} stands for the inverse of the magnetic permeability symmetric tensor, with the components

$$(\mu^{-1})_{ij} = c_1 \,\delta_{ij} - d_1 \,B_i \,B_j - d_2 \,E_i \,E_j - \frac{g^2 \,E_i \,E_j}{\mathbf{k}^2 - \omega^2 + m^2} \,. \tag{3.7}$$

The inverse of eq. (3.7) yields the following expression for the magnetic permeability

$$\mu_{ij}(\mathbf{k},\omega) = \frac{1}{c_1} \frac{\left(1 - d_B \,\mathbf{B}^2 - d_E \,\mathbf{E}^2\right) \delta_{ij} + d_B \,B_i \,B_j + d_E \,E_i \,E_j + d_B \,d_E \,(\mathbf{E} \times \mathbf{B})_i \,(\mathbf{E} \times \mathbf{B})_j}{1 - d_B \,\mathbf{B}^2 - d_E \,\mathbf{E}^2 + d_B \,d_E \,(\mathbf{E} \times \mathbf{B})^2},$$
(3.8)

where we adopted the shorthand notations

$$d_B := \frac{d_1}{c_1}$$
 and $d_E := \frac{d_2}{c_1} + \frac{g^2/c_1}{\mathbf{k}^2 + m^2 - \omega^2}$, (3.9)

for simplicity of the equations. In both the cases in which $\mathbf{E} = \mathbf{0}$ or $\mathbf{B} = \mathbf{0}$, we have $\sigma_{ij}(\mathbf{k}, \omega) = 0$. Moreover, it is important to note that the dependence of electric permittivity and magnetic permeability on \mathbf{k} and ω is exclusively due to the presence of the axion coupling, see eqs. (3.6a) and (3.8), as well as the above definition for the coefficient d_E .

The eigenvalues of the electric permittivity matrix are given by

$$\lambda_{1\varepsilon} = c_1 \,, \tag{3.10a}$$

$$\lambda_{2\varepsilon} = c_1 \left(1 + \frac{d_B \mathbf{E}^2}{2} + \frac{d_E \mathbf{B}^2}{2} \right) - c_1 \sqrt{\left(\frac{d_B \mathbf{E}^2}{2} - \frac{d_E \mathbf{B}^2}{2} \right)^2 + d_B d_E \left(\mathbf{E} \cdot \mathbf{B} \right)^2}, (3.10b)$$

$$\lambda_{3\varepsilon} = c_1 \left(1 + \frac{d_B \mathbf{E}^2}{2} + \frac{d_E \mathbf{B}^2}{2} \right) + c_1 \sqrt{\left(\frac{d_B \mathbf{E}^2}{2} - \frac{d_E \mathbf{B}^2}{2} \right)^2 + d_B d_E \left(\mathbf{E} \cdot \mathbf{B} \right)^2}.$$
(3.10c)

The correspondent eigenvectors are known as the optical axes of the system. If these eigenvalues are positive, it satisfy the conditions

$$c_1 > 0$$
 and $1 + d_E \mathbf{B}^2 + d_B \mathbf{E}^2 + d_B d_E (\mathbf{E} \times \mathbf{B})^2 > 0$, (3.11)

and the electric permittivity matrix will be defined positive.

The eigenvalues of the magnetic permeability matrix are

$$\lambda_{1\mu} = \frac{1}{c_1},\tag{3.12a}$$

$$A_{2\mu} = \frac{1}{2c_1} \frac{2 - d_B \mathbf{B}^2 - d_E \mathbf{E}^2 - \sqrt{(d_B \mathbf{B}^2 - d_E \mathbf{E}^2)^2 + 4 d_B d_E (\mathbf{E} \cdot \mathbf{B})^2}}{1 - d_B \mathbf{B}^2 - d_E \mathbf{E}^2 + d_B d_E (\mathbf{E} \times \mathbf{B})^2}, \quad (3.12b)$$

$$\lambda_{3\mu} = \frac{1}{2c_1} \frac{2 - d_B \mathbf{B}^2 - d_E \mathbf{E}^2 + \sqrt{(d_B \mathbf{B}^2 - d_E \mathbf{E}^2)^2 + 4 d_B d_E (\mathbf{E} \cdot \mathbf{B})^2}}{1 - d_B \mathbf{B}^2 - d_E \mathbf{E}^2 + d_B d_E (\mathbf{E} \times \mathbf{B})^2}, \quad (3.12c)$$

where the permeability is positive if we impose the conditions

$$c_1 > 0$$
 and $1 - d_B \mathbf{B}^2 - d_E \mathbf{E}^2 + d_B d_E (\mathbf{E} \times \mathbf{B})^2 > 0.$ (3.13)

However, situations with negative eigenvalues are also acceptable and this would indicate, according to the references [62–64], that the vacuum manifests the behaviour of a category of metamaterial.

If we just consider the magnetic background field ($\mathbf{E} = 0$), the electric permittivity has two degenerated eigenvalues, $\lambda_{1\varepsilon} = \lambda_{2\varepsilon}$. Analogously, if the background is purely electric ($\mathbf{B} = \mathbf{0}$), the magnetic permeability has the two degenerated eigenvalues, $\lambda_{1\mu} = \lambda_{2\mu}$. In the limit $g \to 0$, the conditions (3.11) and (3.13) are reduced to $c_1^2 + c_1 d_1 \mathbf{B}^2 + c_1 d_2 \mathbf{E}^2 + d_1 d_2 (\mathbf{E} \times \mathbf{B})^2 > 0$ and $c_1^2 - c_1 d_1 \mathbf{B}^2 - c_1 d_2 \mathbf{E}^2 + d_1 d_2 (\mathbf{E} \times \mathbf{B})^2 > 0$, respectively. For the particular case of Maxwell ED coupled to the axion field in which $c_1 = 1$ and $d_1 = d_2 = 0$ in eqs. (3.11) and (3.13), we arrive at the following constraints on the frequency: $-\sqrt{\mathbf{k}^2 + m^2 + g^2 \mathbf{E}^2} < \omega < \sqrt{\mathbf{k}^2 + m^2 + g^2 \mathbf{E}^2}$ (for the positive permittivity) and $-\sqrt{\mathbf{k}^2 + m^2 - g^2 \mathbf{E}^2} < \omega < \sqrt{\mathbf{k}^2 + m^2 - g^2 \mathbf{E}^2}$ (for the positive permeability).

Using the equations in momentum space (3.4a)-(3.4c) and the constitutive relations (3.5a) and (3.5b), we obtain the wave equation for the components of the electric amplitude:

$$M^{ij} \mathbf{e}_0^{\ j} = 0, \qquad (3.14)$$

where the matrix elements M^{ij} are given by

$$M^{ij} = a \,\delta^{ij} + b \,k^i \,k^j + c_B \,B^i \,B^j + c_E \,E^i \,E^j + d_B \left(\mathbf{B} \cdot \mathbf{k}\right) \left(B^i \,k^j + B^j \,k^i\right) + d_E \left(\mathbf{E} \cdot \mathbf{k}\right) \left(E^i \,k^j + E^j \,k^i\right) - d_B \,\omega \left[E^i \left(\mathbf{B} \times \mathbf{k}\right)^j + E^j \left(\mathbf{B} \times \mathbf{k}\right)^i\right] + d_E \,\omega \left[B^i \left(\mathbf{E} \times \mathbf{k}\right)^j + B^j \left(\mathbf{E} \times \mathbf{k}\right)^i\right], \qquad (3.15)$$

whose the coefficients a, b, c_B and c_E are defined by

$$a = \omega^2 - \mathbf{k}^2 + d_B \left(\mathbf{k} \times \mathbf{B} \right)^2 + d_E \left(\mathbf{k} \times \mathbf{E} \right)^2, \qquad (3.16a)$$

$$b = 1 - d_B \mathbf{B}^2 - d_E \mathbf{E}^2, \tag{3.16b}$$

$$c_B = d_E \,\omega^2 - d_B \,\mathbf{k}^2, c_E = d_B \,\omega^2 - d_E \,\mathbf{k}^2 \,. \tag{3.16c}$$

The non-trivial solution of eq. (3.14) implies that the determinant of the matrix M^{ij} is null. It is difficult to analyze the situation with both $\mathbf{E} \neq \mathbf{0}$ and $\mathbf{B} \neq \mathbf{0}$. The frequency solutions are feasible for the cases with $\mathbf{E} = \mathbf{0}$ or $\mathbf{B} = \mathbf{0}$. In what follows, we investigate these two particular cases separately.

3.1 The magnetic background case

Let us consider $\mathbf{E} = \mathbf{0}$ in the matrix elements (3.15):

$$M^{ij}\Big|_{\mathbf{E}=0} = a_B \,\delta^{ij} + b_B \,k^i \,k^j + c_B \,B^i \,B^j + d_B \,(\mathbf{B} \cdot \mathbf{k}) \left(B^i \,k^j + B^j \,k^i\right) \,, \qquad (3.17)$$

where $a_B = \omega^2 - \mathbf{k}^2 + d_B (\mathbf{k} \times \mathbf{B})^2$ and $b_B = 1 - d_B \mathbf{B}^2$. The determinant of (3.17) is

$$\det(M)|_{\mathbf{E}=0} = a_B \left\{ a_B^2 + 2 a_B d_B (\mathbf{B} \cdot \mathbf{k})^2 + a_B \left(c_B \mathbf{B}^2 + b_B \mathbf{k}^2 \right) + b_B c_B (\mathbf{k} \times \mathbf{B})^2 - d_B^2 (\mathbf{B} \cdot \mathbf{k})^2 (\mathbf{k} \times \mathbf{B})^2 \right\},$$
(3.18)

and imposing that $\det(M)|_{\mathbf{E}=0} = 0$, we obtain the first solution $a_B = 0$, that yields

$$\omega_{1B}(\mathbf{k}) = |\mathbf{k}| \sqrt{1 - \frac{d_1}{c_1} (\mathbf{B} \times \hat{\mathbf{k}})^2} \,. \tag{3.19}$$

The other solutions come from the polynomial equation

$$\omega^2 \left(P_B \,\omega^4 + Q_B \,\omega^2 + R_B \right) = 0 \,, \tag{3.20}$$

where the coefficients are defined by

$$P_B = 1 + \frac{d_2}{c_1} \mathbf{B}^2, \qquad (3.21a)$$

$$Q_B = -2\mathbf{k}^2 - m^2 - \frac{d_2}{c_1}\mathbf{B}^2\left(\mathbf{k}^2 + m^2\right) - \frac{d_2}{c_1}\left(\mathbf{k}\cdot\mathbf{B}\right)^2 - \frac{g^2}{c_1}\mathbf{B}^2, \qquad (3.21b)$$

$$R_B = \mathbf{k}^2 \left(\mathbf{k}^2 + m^2 \right) + \frac{d_2}{c_1} \left(\mathbf{k}^2 + m^2 \right) \left(\mathbf{k} \cdot \mathbf{B} \right)^2 + \frac{g^2}{c_1} \left(\mathbf{k} \cdot \mathbf{B} \right)^2.$$
(3.21c)

The second solution is the trivial $\omega = 0$. Solving the above polynomial equation, one can show that the non-trivial solutions correspond to

$$\omega_{2B}^{2} = \mathbf{k}^{2} + \frac{m^{2}}{2} + \frac{g^{2}\mathbf{B}^{2} - d_{2}(\mathbf{B} \times \mathbf{k})^{2}}{2(c_{1} + d_{2}\mathbf{B}^{2})} - \sqrt{\left[\mathbf{k}^{2} + \frac{m^{2}}{2} + \frac{g^{2}\mathbf{B}^{2} - d_{2}(\mathbf{B} \times \mathbf{k})^{2}}{2(c_{1} + d_{2}\mathbf{B}^{2})}\right]^{2} - \mathbf{k}^{2}\frac{g^{2}(\mathbf{B} \cdot \hat{\mathbf{k}})^{2} + (\mathbf{k}^{2} + m^{2})(c_{1} + d_{2}(\mathbf{B} \cdot \hat{\mathbf{k}})^{2})}{c_{1} + d_{2}\mathbf{B}^{2}}},$$
(3.22a)

$$\omega_{3B}^{2} = \mathbf{k}^{2} + \frac{m^{2}}{2} + \frac{g^{2}\mathbf{B}^{2} - d_{2}(\mathbf{B} \times \mathbf{k})^{2}}{2(c_{1} + d_{2}\mathbf{B}^{2})} + \sqrt{\left[\mathbf{k}^{2} + \frac{m^{2}}{2} + \frac{g^{2}\mathbf{B}^{2} - d_{2}(\mathbf{B} \times \mathbf{k})^{2}}{2(c_{1} + d_{2}\mathbf{B}^{2})}\right]^{2} - \mathbf{k}^{2}\frac{g^{2}(\mathbf{B} \cdot \hat{\mathbf{k}})^{2} + (\mathbf{k}^{2} + m^{2})(c_{1} + d_{2}(\mathbf{B} \cdot \hat{\mathbf{k}})^{2})}{c_{1} + d_{2}\mathbf{B}^{2}}}.$$
(3.22b)

The equations (3.22a) and (3.22b) indicate that the dispersive character of the refractive index is exclusively due to the presence of the axion. The non-linearity alone does not yield dispersion, as the equation above show.

At this stage, it is interesting to analyse the approximation of the very small axion coupling constant. Using $g^2 |\mathbf{B}| \ll 1$, the previous frequencies are reduced to

$$\omega_{2B}(\mathbf{k}) \simeq \sqrt{\mathbf{k}^2 + m^2} + \mathcal{O}(g^2) \quad \text{and} \quad \omega_{3B}(\mathbf{k}) \simeq |\mathbf{k}| \sqrt{1 - \frac{d_2 \left(\mathbf{B} \times \hat{\mathbf{k}}\right)^2}{c_1 + d_2 \mathbf{B}^2}} + \mathcal{O}(g^2) \,. \tag{3.23}$$

In this approximation, ω_{2B} leads to the usual DR for a massive particle, while the results for ω_{1B} and ω_{3B} , eqs. (3.19) and (3.23), confirm the DRs obtained in ref. [65] for a general non-linear ED in a uniform magnetic background. The refractive index associated with the DRs are defined by

$$n_{iB} = \frac{|\mathbf{k}|}{\omega_{iB}} (i = 1, 2, 3).$$
(3.24)

We point out that, for the DR in eq. (3.19), the refractive index only depends on the direction of the magnetic field **B** with the wave propagating direction **k**. On the other hand, for the DRs in eqs. (3.22a) and (3.22b), the refractive index depends on the wavelength $(\lambda = 2\pi/|\mathbf{k}|)$ due to the presence of the axion mass (m) and the coupling constant (g). In the limit $m \to 0$ and $g \to 0$, all the refractive indices do not depend on the wavelength in the non-linear EDs.

Since we have three solutions for the frequencies, each solution has a different group velocity. For the frequency in eq. (3.19), we obtain

$$\mathbf{v}_{gB}\big|_{\omega=\omega_{1B}} = \hat{\mathbf{k}} \sqrt{1 - \frac{d_1}{c_1} \left(\hat{\mathbf{k}} \times \mathbf{B}\right)^2} \,. \tag{3.25}$$

The polynomial equation (3.20) has the correspondent group velocity:

$$\mathbf{v}_{gB} = \hat{\mathbf{k}} \frac{d\omega}{dk} = \frac{-\hat{\mathbf{k}}}{2\omega \left(2\omega^2 P_B + Q_B\right)} \left(\frac{dR_B}{dk} + \omega^2 \frac{dQ_B}{dk}\right), \qquad (3.26)$$

where ω is now evaluated at the DRs $\omega = \omega_{2B}$ and $\omega = \omega_{3B}$, in which $k \equiv |\mathbf{k}|$. Using the definitions of P_B , Q_B and R_B , the expression (3.26) is read below

$$\mathbf{v}_{gB} = \frac{\mathbf{k}}{\omega} \begin{bmatrix} \frac{2c_1(\omega^2 - \mathbf{k}^2) - c_1m^2 - d_2(\mathbf{B} \cdot \mathbf{k})^2 + d_2\omega^2\mathbf{B}^2 + d_2(\omega^2 - \mathbf{k}^2 - m^2)(\mathbf{B} \cdot \hat{\mathbf{k}})^2 - g^2(\mathbf{B} \cdot \hat{\mathbf{k}})^2}{2c_1(\omega^2 - \mathbf{k}^2) - c_1m^2 + d_2\mathbf{B}^2(2\omega^2 - \mathbf{k}^2 - m^2) - d_2(\mathbf{B} \cdot \hat{\mathbf{k}})^2 - g^2\mathbf{B}^2} \end{bmatrix}.$$
(3.27)

Substituting the frequencies ω_{2B} and ω_{3B} in eq. (3.27), the group velocities in the approximation $g^2 |\mathbf{B}| \ll 1$ are given by:

$$\mathbf{v}_{gB}\big|_{\omega=\omega_{2B}} \simeq \hat{\mathbf{k}} \sqrt{1 - \frac{d_2 \,(\mathbf{B} \times \hat{\mathbf{k}})^2}{c_1 + d_2 \,\mathbf{B}^2}} + \mathcal{O}(g^2) , \qquad (3.28a)$$

$$\mathbf{v}_{gB}\big|_{\omega=\omega_{3B}} \simeq \frac{\mathbf{k}}{\sqrt{\mathbf{k}^2 + m^2}} + \mathcal{O}(g^2) \quad . \tag{3.28b}$$

The results (3.25) and (3.28a) show the dependence of the group velocity on the angle between the magnetic background **B** and the propagation direction $\hat{\mathbf{k}}$. It is important to highlight that the Maxwell limit recovers the known results for the group velocities (3.25) and (3.27), i.e., $\mathbf{v}_g = c \hat{\mathbf{k}}$ (with c = 1), when $d_1 = d_2 = 0$ and $c_1 = 1$.

3.2 The electric background case

The electric background case is obtained with $\mathbf{B} = 0$ in eq. (3.15):

$$M^{ij}\Big|_{\mathbf{B}=0} = a_E \,\delta^{ij} + b_E \,k^i \,k^j + c_E \,E^i \,E^j + d_E \,(\mathbf{E} \cdot \mathbf{k}) \left(E^i \,k^j + E^j \,k^i\right) \,, \qquad (3.29)$$

where $a_E = \omega^2 - \mathbf{k}^2 + d_E (\mathbf{k} \times \mathbf{E})^2$ and $b_E = 1 - d_E \mathbf{E}^2$. The correspondent determinant is similar to the result (3.18):

$$\det(M)|_{\mathbf{B}=0} = a_E \left\{ a_E^2 + 2 a_E d_E \left(\mathbf{E} \cdot \mathbf{k} \right)^2 + a_E \left(c_E \mathbf{E}^2 + b_E \mathbf{k}^2 \right) + b_E c_E \left(\mathbf{k} \times \mathbf{E} \right)^2 - d_E^2 \left(\mathbf{E} \cdot \mathbf{k} \right)^2 \left(\mathbf{k} \times \mathbf{E} \right)^2 \right\}.$$
(3.30)

The null determinant in eq. (3.30) implies the first condition $a_E = 0$, or equivalently $\omega^2 - \mathbf{k}^2 + d_E (\mathbf{k} \times \mathbf{E})^2 = 0$, that yields the solutions $\omega_{1E}^{\pm} = \pm \omega_{1E}(\mathbf{k})$ and $\omega_{2E}^{\pm} = \pm \omega_{2E}(\mathbf{k})$, where the DRs are given by

$$\omega_{1E}(\mathbf{k}) = \sqrt{\mathbf{k}^2 + \frac{m^2}{2} - \frac{d_2}{2c_1} (\mathbf{E} \times \mathbf{k})^2 - \sqrt{\left[\frac{m^2}{2} + \frac{d_2}{2c_1} (\mathbf{E} \times \mathbf{k})^2\right]^2 + \frac{g^2}{c_1} (\mathbf{E} \times \mathbf{k})^2}, \quad (3.31a)$$

$$\omega_{2E}(\mathbf{k}) = \sqrt{\mathbf{k}^2 + \frac{m^2}{2} - \frac{d_2}{2c_1} (\mathbf{E} \times \mathbf{k})^2 + \sqrt{\left[\frac{m^2}{2} + \frac{d_2}{2c_1} (\mathbf{E} \times \mathbf{k})^2\right]^2 + \frac{g^2}{c_1} (\mathbf{E} \times \mathbf{k})^2}.$$
 (3.31b)

The second condition for eq. (3.30) to be null leads to the polynomial equation

$$\omega^2 \left[\left(1 + \frac{d_1}{c_1} \mathbf{E}^2 \right) \, \omega^2 - \mathbf{k}^2 - \frac{d_1}{c_1} \, (\mathbf{E} \cdot \mathbf{k})^2 \right] = 0 \,. \tag{3.32}$$

The first root in eq. (3.32) is $\omega = 0$, and the non-trivial solutions are $\omega_{3E}^{\pm} = \pm \omega_{3E}(\mathbf{k})$, with

$$\omega_{3E}(\mathbf{k}) = |\mathbf{k}| \sqrt{1 - \frac{d_1(\mathbf{E} \times \hat{\mathbf{k}})^2}{c_1 + d_1 \mathbf{E}^2}} \,. \tag{3.33}$$

Therefore, we obtain three possible DRs for the axionic non-linear ED in an electric background. However, only the frequencies $\omega_{1E}(\mathbf{k})$ and $\omega_{2E}(\mathbf{k})$ contain contributions of the axion field.

The refractive index in an electric background field is

$$n_{iE} = \frac{|\mathbf{k}|}{\omega_{iE}} (i = 1, 2, 3).$$
(3.34)

The DR (3.33) yields a refractive index that depends on the direction of **E** with the **k**-wave propagation. In the case of the DRs (3.31a) and (3.31b), the refractive indices depend on the wavelength if we consider $m \neq 0$.

From the condition $a_E = 0$, the correspondent group velocity is given by

$$\mathbf{v}_{gE} = \frac{\mathbf{k}}{\omega} \left[1 + \frac{g^2}{c_1} \frac{(\mathbf{E} \times \mathbf{k})^2}{(\mathbf{k}^2 - \omega^2 + m^2)^2} \right]^{-1} \times \left[1 - \frac{d_2}{c_1} (\mathbf{E} \times \hat{\mathbf{k}})^2 - \frac{g^2}{c_1} \frac{(\mathbf{E} \times \hat{\mathbf{k}})^2}{\mathbf{k}^2 - \omega^2 + m^2} + \frac{g^2}{c_1} \frac{(\mathbf{E} \times \mathbf{k})^2}{(\mathbf{k}^2 - \omega^2 + m^2)^2} \right], \quad (3.35)$$

where ω must be evaluated at the dispersion relations ω_{1E} and ω_{2E} . Substituting the frequencies (3.31a) and (3.31b) in eq. (3.35), we obtain the results

$$\mathbf{v}_{gE}\big|_{\omega=\omega_{1E}} \simeq \hat{\mathbf{k}} \sqrt{1 - \frac{d_2}{c_1} \left(\mathbf{E} \times \hat{\mathbf{k}}\right)^2} + \mathcal{O}(g^2), \qquad (3.36a)$$

$$\mathbf{v}_{gE}|_{\omega=\omega_{2E}} \simeq \frac{\mathbf{k}}{\sqrt{\mathbf{k}^2 + m^2}} \left[1 - \frac{d_2}{c_1} \left(\mathbf{E} \times \hat{\mathbf{k}} \right)^2 \right] + \mathcal{O}(g^2) \,. \tag{3.36b}$$

The third possible solution for the group velocity comes from the eq. (3.32). In this case, we obtain the group velocity

$$\mathbf{v}_{gE} = \frac{\mathbf{k}}{\omega} \left[1 - \frac{d_1 \left(\mathbf{E} \times \hat{\mathbf{k}} \right)^2}{c_1 + d_1 \mathbf{E}^2} \right].$$
(3.37)

Using the dispersion relation (3.33) in eq. (3.37), the correspondent group velocity reads

$$\mathbf{v}_{gE}\big|_{\omega=\omega_{3E}} = \hat{\mathbf{k}} \sqrt{1 - \frac{d_1 \left(\mathbf{E} \times \hat{\mathbf{k}}\right)^2}{c_1 + d_1 \mathbf{E}^2}} \,. \tag{3.38}$$

In the Maxwell limit, $d_1 = d_2 = 0$ and $c_1 = 1$, the group velocities (3.36a) and (3.38) reduce to the usual case when $g \to 0$: $\mathbf{v}_{gE} = c \hat{\mathbf{k}}$ (with c = 1). Still in this limit, the group velocity (3.36b) is reduce to the result of a wave-particle of mass m. Analogously to the magnetic background case, the results obtained in this subsection also depends on the angle between the electric background and the wave propagation direction. In all the results, the dispersion relations and the group velocities depend on the coefficients c_1 , d_1 and d_2 , which are fixed by the non-linear ED as functions of the magnetic or electric background fields.

4 Application to the axion-Born-Infeld model

In this section, we apply the Born-Infeld (BI) theory as an example of non-linear electrodynamics in the model (2.1). Therefore, we can discuss the results of the previous section applied to a well-known non-linear ED in the literature. The BI electrodynamics is described by the Lagrangian

$$\mathcal{L}_{BI}(\mathcal{F}_0, \mathcal{G}_0) = \beta^2 \left[1 - \sqrt{1 - 2\frac{\mathcal{F}_0}{\beta^2} - \frac{\mathcal{G}_0^2}{\beta^4}} \right], \qquad (4.1)$$

where β is a scale parameter with dimension of squared energy (in natural units). It can be interpreted as a critical field in the theory, and has the same dimension of the electromagnetic field. The BI Lagrangian is CP-invariant since it depends on the \mathcal{G}_0^2 . The limit of $\beta \to \infty$ yields the Maxwell Lagrangian. The measurement by ATLAS of the light-by-light scattering in Pb-Pb collisions constraints a stringent lower bound on the β -parameter [34], namely,

$$\sqrt{\beta} \gtrsim 100 \,\text{GeV}\,,$$
 (4.2)

in the case of a pure quantum electrodynamics with the Born-Infeld theory associated with the Abelian U(1) symmetry. Keeping this in mind, we shall consider $\sqrt{\beta} = 100$ GeV as the scale of the BI theory in our future analysis. In what follows, let us examine the dispersion relations and group velocities, as well as the properties of the permittivity and permeability tensors of the axion-BI model for the cases of magnetic background field (subsection VI.A), and posteriorly, in the presence of an electric background field (subsection VI.B).

4.1 The axion-BI model in a magnetic background

From eq. (2.5), we obtain the correspondent coefficients c_1 , d_1 and d_2 for the BI theory,

$$c_1^{BI}\Big|_{\mathbf{E}=0,\mathbf{B}} = \frac{\beta}{\sqrt{\beta^2 + \mathbf{B}^2}}, \ d_1^{BI}\Big|_{\mathbf{E}=0,\mathbf{B}} = \frac{\beta}{(\beta^2 + \mathbf{B}^2)^{3/2}}, \ d_2^{BI}\Big|_{\mathbf{E}=0,\mathbf{B}} = \frac{1}{\beta\sqrt{\beta^2 + \mathbf{B}^2}}, \quad (4.3)$$

with $c_2 = d_3 = 0$. All these coefficients are positive and the axion-BI model reduces to the usual Maxwell theory coupled to the axion in the limit $\beta \to \infty$, *i. e.*, $\lim_{\beta\to\infty} c_1^{BI}\Big|_{\mathbf{E}=0,\mathbf{B}} = 1$ and $\lim_{\beta\to\infty} d_1^{BI}\Big|_{\mathbf{E}=0,\mathbf{B}} = \lim_{\beta\to\infty} d_2^{BI}\Big|_{\mathbf{E}=0,\mathbf{B}} = 0$. Substituting these coefficients in the results (3.19), (3.22a) and (3.22b), we obtain the dispersion relations in a uniform and constant magnetic field **B**:

$$\begin{split} \omega_{1B}^{(BI)}(\mathbf{k}) &= |\mathbf{k}| \sqrt{1 - \frac{(\mathbf{B} \times \hat{\mathbf{k}})^2}{\beta^2 + \mathbf{B}^2}} \,. \end{split} \tag{4.4a} \\ \left[\omega_{2B}^{(BI)}(\mathbf{k})\right]^2 &= \mathbf{k}^2 + \frac{m^2}{2} - \frac{(\mathbf{B} \times \mathbf{k})^2}{2(\beta^2 + \mathbf{B}^2)} + \frac{g^2 \mathbf{B}^2}{2\sqrt{1 + \mathbf{B}^2/\beta^2}} \\ &- \left\{ \left[\mathbf{k}^2 + \frac{m^2}{2} - \frac{(\mathbf{B} \times \mathbf{k})^2}{2(\beta^2 + \mathbf{B}^2)} + \frac{g^2 \mathbf{B}^2}{2\sqrt{1 + \mathbf{B}^2/\beta^2}} \right]^2 \\ &- \mathbf{k}^2 \left(\mathbf{k}^2 + m^2 \right) \left[1 - \frac{(\mathbf{B} \times \hat{\mathbf{k}})^2}{\beta^2 + \mathbf{B}^2} \right] - \frac{g^2 (\mathbf{B} \cdot \mathbf{k})^2}{\sqrt{1 + \mathbf{B}^2/\beta^2}} \right]^{1/2}, \tag{4.4b} \\ \left[\omega_{3B}^{(BI)}(\mathbf{k}) \right]^2 &= \mathbf{k}^2 + \frac{m^2}{2} - \frac{(\mathbf{B} \times \mathbf{k})^2}{2(\beta^2 + \mathbf{B}^2)} + \frac{g^2 \mathbf{B}^2}{2\sqrt{1 + \mathbf{B}^2/\beta^2}} \\ &+ \left\{ \left[\mathbf{k}^2 + \frac{m^2}{2} - \frac{(\mathbf{B} \times \mathbf{k})^2}{2(\beta^2 + \mathbf{B}^2)} + \frac{g^2 \mathbf{B}^2}{2\sqrt{1 + \mathbf{B}^2/\beta^2}} \right]^2 \\ &- \mathbf{k}^2 \left(\mathbf{k}^2 + m^2 \right) \left[1 - \frac{(\mathbf{B} \times \hat{\mathbf{k}})^2}{\beta^2 + \mathbf{B}^2} \right] - \frac{g^2 (\mathbf{B} \cdot \mathbf{k})^2}{\sqrt{1 + \mathbf{B}^2/\beta^2}} \right]^{1/2}. \tag{4.4c} \end{split}$$

At this stage, it is interesting to consider particular limits. For instance, under an intense magnetic background field, *i. e.*, $|\mathbf{B}| \gg \beta$, the dispersion relations are reduced to $\omega_{1B}^{(BI)}(\mathbf{k}) = \omega_{2B}^{(BI)}(\mathbf{k}) \simeq |\mathbf{k} \cdot \hat{\mathbf{B}}|$ and $\omega_{3B}^{(BI)}(\mathbf{k}) \simeq \sqrt{\mathbf{k}^2 + m^2}$, in which we have also considered $g^2\beta \ll 1$ in the frequencies $\omega_{2B}^{(BI)}$ and $\omega_{3B}^{(BI)}$. In the strong magnetic field regime, the DRs $\omega_{1B}^{(BI)}$ and $\omega_{2B}^{(BI)}$ are not dependent on the magnetic field magnitude, and depend only on the angle between the wave vector \mathbf{k} and the direction of the magnetic background field. On the other hand, when $\beta \rightarrow \infty$, we recover the photon DR in the frequency $\omega_{1B}^{(BI)}$, while

 $\omega_{2B}^{(BI)}$ and $\omega_{3B}^{(BI)}$ reduce to the expressions:

$$\lim_{\beta \to \infty} \omega_{2B}^{(BI)}(\mathbf{k}) = \sqrt{\mathbf{k}^2 + \frac{m^2 + g^2 \mathbf{B}^2}{2}} - \sqrt{\left(\frac{m^2 + g^2 \mathbf{B}^2}{2}\right)^2 + g^2 \left(\mathbf{B} \times \mathbf{k}\right)^2}, \quad (4.5a)$$

$$\lim_{\beta \to \infty} \omega_{3B}^{(BI)}(\mathbf{k}) = \sqrt{\mathbf{k}^2 + \frac{m^2 + g^2 \mathbf{B}^2}{2}} + \sqrt{\left(\frac{m^2 + g^2 \mathbf{B}^2}{2}\right)^2 + g^2 \left(\mathbf{B} \times \mathbf{k}\right)^2}.$$
 (4.5b)

The dependence of the DRs with the angle between **B** and **k** remains in eqs. (4.5a) and (4.5b). In the regime $g^2|\mathbf{B}| \ll 1$, the previous frequencies lead to

$$\omega_{2B}(\mathbf{k}) \simeq |\mathbf{k}| \left[1 - \frac{g^2}{2m^2} \left(\mathbf{B} \times \hat{\mathbf{k}} \right)^2 \right], \qquad (4.6a)$$

$$\omega_{3B}(\mathbf{k}) \simeq \sqrt{\mathbf{k}^2 + m^2} + \frac{g^2 \mathbf{B}^2}{2\sqrt{\mathbf{k}^2 + m^2}} + \frac{g^2}{2m^2} \frac{(\mathbf{B} \times \mathbf{k})^2}{\sqrt{\mathbf{k}^2 + m^2}}.$$
 (4.6b)

Using the results (3.25) and (3.28a), the group velocity for the axion-BI model is

$$\mathbf{v}_{gBI}\big|_{\omega_{1B}^{(BI)}} = \left.\mathbf{v}_{gBI}\right|_{\omega_{2B}^{(BI)}} = \hat{\mathbf{k}} \sqrt{1 - \frac{(\mathbf{B} \times \hat{\mathbf{k}})^2}{\beta^2 + \mathbf{B}^2}}.$$
(4.7)

As expected, the $\beta \to \infty$ limit recovers the result of usual electrodynamics group velocity $\mathbf{v}_g = \hat{\mathbf{k}}$, in natural units. Under a strong magnetic field, the group velocities also depend on the angle of $\hat{\mathbf{k}}$ with the $\hat{\mathbf{B}}$ -direction:

$$\mathbf{v}_{gBI}\big|_{\omega_{1B}^{(BI)}} = \left.\mathbf{v}_{gBI}\right|_{\omega_{2B}^{(BI)}} \simeq \hat{\mathbf{k}}\left|\hat{\mathbf{k}}\cdot\hat{\mathbf{B}}\right| = \hat{\mathbf{k}}\left|\cos\theta\right|.$$
(4.8)

Substituting the coefficients (4.3) in the eigenvalues of the electric permittivity matrix, we obtain

$$\lambda_{1\varepsilon}^{(BI)}\Big|_{\mathbf{E}=\mathbf{0}} = \lambda_{2\varepsilon}^{(BI)}\Big|_{\mathbf{E}=\mathbf{0}} = \frac{\beta}{\sqrt{\beta^2 + \mathbf{B}^2}}, \qquad (4.9a)$$

$$\lambda_{3\varepsilon}^{(BI)}\Big|_{\mathbf{E}=\mathbf{0}} = \sqrt{1 + \frac{\mathbf{B}^2}{\beta^2}} + \frac{g^2 \mathbf{B}^2}{\mathbf{k}^2 + m^2 - \omega^2}.$$
 (4.9b)

Similarly, the eigenvalues of the magnetic permeability are

$$\lambda_{1\mu}^{(BI)}\Big|_{\mathbf{E}=\mathbf{0}} = \lambda_{2\mu}^{(BI)}\Big|_{\mathbf{E}=\mathbf{0}} = \sqrt{1 + \frac{\mathbf{B}^2}{\beta^2}} \quad , \quad \lambda_{3\mu}^{(BI)}\Big|_{\mathbf{E}=\mathbf{0}} = \left(1 + \frac{\mathbf{B}^2}{\beta^2}\right)^{3/2} \,. \tag{4.10}$$

With these expressions, we conclude that the eigenvalues of eqs. (4.9a) and (4.10) are positive, while that in eq. (4.9b) is positive if the ω -frequency satisfies the inequality:

$$-\sqrt{\mathbf{k}^2 + m^2 + \frac{g^2 \mathbf{B}^2}{\sqrt{1 + \mathbf{B}^2/\beta^2}}} < \omega < \sqrt{\mathbf{k}^2 + m^2 + \frac{g^2 \mathbf{B}^2}{\sqrt{1 + \mathbf{B}^2/\beta^2}}}.$$
 (4.11)

In the limit $\beta \to \infty$, the results (4.9a) and (4.10) go to one, but in eq. (4.9b), we obtain a contribution of the axion coupling with the Maxwell ED:

$$\lim_{\beta \to \infty} \lambda_{3\varepsilon}^{(BI)} \Big|_{\mathbf{E}=\mathbf{0}} = 1 + \frac{g^2 \mathbf{B}^2}{\mathbf{k}^2 + m^2 - \omega^2} \,. \tag{4.12}$$

4.2 The axion-BI model in an electric background

In this case, the coefficients c_1 , d_1 and d_2 at $\mathbf{B} = 0$ are given by

$$c_1^{BI}\Big|_{\mathbf{E},\mathbf{B}=0} = \frac{\beta}{\sqrt{\beta^2 - \mathbf{E}^2}}, \ d_1^{BI}\Big|_{\mathbf{E},\mathbf{B}=0} = \frac{\beta}{(\beta^2 - \mathbf{E}^2)^{3/2}}, \ d_2^{BI}\Big|_{\mathbf{E},\mathbf{B}=0} = \frac{1}{\beta\sqrt{\beta^2 - \mathbf{E}^2}}, (4.13)$$

and $c_2 = d_3 = 0$, in which the magnitude of the electric background must satisfy the condition $\beta > |\mathbf{E}|$ for these coefficients to be real. When $|\mathbf{E}| > \beta$, the coefficients are complex and can bring interesting consequences for the DRs and the wave propagation. Phenomenologically, the constraint of $|\mathbf{E}| > \beta$ is not usual since that, in general, electric fields with strong magnitude of $|\mathbf{E}| > 10^4 \text{ GeV}^2$ are not suitable. Using these coefficients in the dispersion relations (3.31a), (3.31b) and (3.33), we arrive at the following frequencies for the axion-BI model in a uniform and constant electric background:

$$\omega_{1E}^{(BI)}(\mathbf{k}) = \sqrt{\mathbf{k}^2 + \frac{m^2}{2} - \frac{(\mathbf{E} \times \mathbf{k})^2}{2\beta^2}} - \sqrt{\left[\frac{m^2}{2} + \frac{(\mathbf{E} \times \mathbf{k})^2}{2\beta^2}\right]^2 + g^2(\mathbf{E} \times \mathbf{k})^2\sqrt{1 - \frac{\mathbf{E}^2}{\beta^2}},$$
(4.14a)

$$\omega_{2E}^{(BI)}(\mathbf{k}) = \sqrt{\mathbf{k}^2 + \frac{m^2}{2} - \frac{(\mathbf{E} \times \mathbf{k})^2}{2\beta^2}} + \sqrt{\left[\frac{m^2}{2} + \frac{(\mathbf{E} \times \mathbf{k})^2}{2\beta^2}\right]^2 + g^2(\mathbf{E} \times \mathbf{k})^2\sqrt{1 - \frac{\mathbf{E}^2}{\beta^2}},$$
(4.14b)

$$\omega_{3E}^{(BI)}(\mathbf{k}) = |\mathbf{k}| \sqrt{1 - \frac{(\mathbf{E} \times \hat{\mathbf{k}})^2}{\beta^2}}, \qquad (4.14c)$$

where $\beta > |\mathbf{E} \times \hat{\mathbf{k}}|$ in the frequency (4.14c). Notice that the Maxwell limit yields the photon DR in eq. (4.14c). Moreover, the solutions (4.14a) and (4.14b) are, respectively, reduced to

$$\lim_{\beta \to \infty} \omega_{1E}^{(BI)}(\mathbf{k}) = \sqrt{\mathbf{k}^2 + \frac{m^2}{2} - \sqrt{\frac{m^4}{4} + g^2 \left(\mathbf{E} \times \mathbf{k}\right)^2}},$$
(4.15a)

$$\lim_{\beta \to \infty} \omega_{2E}^{(BI)}(\mathbf{k}) = \sqrt{\mathbf{k}^2 + \frac{m^2}{2} + \sqrt{\frac{m^4}{4} + g^2 (\mathbf{E} \times \mathbf{k})^2}}.$$
 (4.15b)

For a weak electric field, the previous DRs assume the form

$$\omega_{1E}(\mathbf{k}) \simeq |\mathbf{k}| \left[1 - \frac{g^2}{2m^2} \left(\mathbf{E} \times \hat{\mathbf{k}} \right)^2 \right], \qquad (4.16a)$$

$$\omega_{2E}(\mathbf{k}) \simeq \sqrt{\mathbf{k}^2 + m^2} + \frac{g^2}{2m^2} \frac{(\mathbf{E} \times \mathbf{k})^2}{\sqrt{\mathbf{k}^2 + m^2}}.$$
(4.16b)

The group velocities associated with these dispersion relations can be read below:

$$\mathbf{v}_{g}\big|_{\omega_{1E}^{(BI)}} = \left.\mathbf{v}_{g}\right|_{\omega_{3E}^{(BI)}} = \hat{\mathbf{k}} \sqrt{1 - \frac{(\mathbf{E} \times \hat{\mathbf{k}})^{2}}{\beta^{2}}}, \qquad (4.17a)$$

$$\mathbf{v}_{g}\Big|_{\omega_{2E}^{(BI)}} = \frac{\mathbf{k}}{\sqrt{\mathbf{k}^{2} + m^{2}}} \left[1 - \frac{(\mathbf{E} \times \hat{\mathbf{k}})^{2}}{\beta^{2}}\right], \qquad (4.17b)$$

where the condition $\beta > |\mathbf{E} \times \hat{\mathbf{k}}|$ constraints the velocity (4.17b) in the same direction of the wave propagation.

Analogously to the magnetic background case, we insert the expressions (4.13) in the eigenvalues of the electric permittivity and magnetic permeability matrices. Thereby, we obtain for the electric permittivity:

$$\lambda_{1\varepsilon}^{(BI)}\Big|_{\mathbf{B}=\mathbf{0}} = \lambda_{2\varepsilon}^{(BI)}\Big|_{\mathbf{B}=\mathbf{0}} = \frac{\beta}{\sqrt{\beta^2 - \mathbf{E}^2}} \quad , \quad \lambda_{3\varepsilon}^{(BI)}\Big|_{\mathbf{B}=\mathbf{0}} = \frac{\beta^3}{(\beta^2 - \mathbf{E}^2)^{3/2}} \,. \tag{4.18}$$

In addition, for the magnetic permeability, we arrive at the following eigenvalues

$$\lambda_{1\mu}^{(BI)}\Big|_{\mathbf{B}=\mathbf{0}} = \left.\lambda_{2\mu}^{(BI)}\right|_{\mathbf{B}=\mathbf{0}} = \sqrt{1 - \frac{\mathbf{E}^2}{\beta^2}},\tag{4.19a}$$

$$\lambda_{3\mu}^{(BI)}\Big|_{\mathbf{B}=\mathbf{0}} = \left[\sqrt{1 - \frac{\mathbf{E}^2}{\beta^2}} - \frac{g^2 \,\mathbf{E}^2}{\mathbf{k}^2 + m^2 - \omega^2}\right]^{-1}.$$
 (4.19b)

Observe that the eigenvalues (4.18) and (4.19a) are real with the condition $\beta > |\mathbf{E}|$. The eigenvalue (4.19b) is positive if the ω -frequency satisfies the condition:

$$-\sqrt{\mathbf{k}^2 + m^2 - \frac{g^2 \mathbf{E}^2}{\sqrt{1 - \mathbf{E}^2/\beta^2}}} < \omega < \sqrt{\mathbf{k}^2 + m^2 - \frac{g^2 \mathbf{E}^2}{\sqrt{1 - \mathbf{E}^2/\beta^2}}} .$$
 (4.20)

5 The birefringence in the non-linear ED axion model

The vacuum birefringence is one of the phenomena present in some non-linear EDs. We back to the wave equation (3.14) to investigate the birefringence in a uniform and constant magnetic background and also for the electric background case in the linearized axion-BI model.

5.1 Birefringence in the axion-BI model with a magnetic background field

The birefringence analysis requires that we impose some considerations on the wave propagation. We assume the propagation direction $\mathbf{k} = k \hat{\mathbf{x}}$ and the magnetic background $\mathbf{B} = B \hat{\mathbf{z}}$. In the first situation, we consider the electric wave amplitude parallel to \mathbf{B} , with $\mathbf{e}_0 = e_{03} \hat{\mathbf{z}}$. In this case, the wave equation (3.14) (with $\mathbf{E} = \mathbf{0}$) yields the relation $\mu_{22}(k,\omega) \varepsilon_{33}(k,\omega) \omega^2 = k^2$, where the parallel refractive index is defined by

$$n_{\parallel}^{(B)}(k,\omega) = \sqrt{\mu_{22}(k,\omega)\,\varepsilon_{33}(k,\omega)} = \sqrt{1 + \frac{d_2}{c_1}\,B^2 + \frac{g^2}{c_1}\frac{B^2}{k^2 - \omega^2 + m^2}} \,. \tag{5.1}$$

The second situation is when the electric wave amplitude is perpendicular to the magnetic background field, with $\mathbf{e}_0 = e_{02} \hat{\mathbf{y}}$. In this case, the wave equation leads to the relation $\mu_{33}(k,\omega) \varepsilon_{22}(k,\omega) \omega^2 = k^2$, in which the perpendicular refractive index is

$$n_{\perp}^{(B)}(k,\omega) = \sqrt{\mu_{33}(k,\omega)\,\varepsilon_{22}(k,\omega)} = \left[1 - \frac{d_1}{c_1}\,B^2\right]^{-1/2}\,.$$
(5.2)

Using the coefficients of the axion-BI model in eq. (4.3), the difference between these two refractive indices, $\Delta n_{BI}^{(B)}(k,\omega) = n_{\parallel}^{(B)}(k,\omega) - n_{\perp}^{(B)}(k,\omega)$, is given by

$$\Delta n_{BI}^{(B)}(k,\omega) = \sqrt{1 + \frac{B^2}{\beta^2} + \frac{g^2 B^2}{k^2 - \omega^2 + m^2}} \sqrt{1 + \frac{B^2}{\beta^2}} - \sqrt{1 + \frac{B^2}{\beta^2}}.$$
 (5.3)

From eq. (5.1), we expect that the variation of the refractive index depends on the ω frequency. Thereby, we can have the birefringence phenomena associated with the three
DRs from (4.4a), (4.4b) and (4.4c), respectively. The limit $g \to 0$ recovers the well-known
result in which the pure BI theory does not exhibit birefringence, *i. e.*, $\lim_{g\to 0} \Delta n_{BI}^{(B)}(k,\omega) =$ 0. Substituting the dispersion relations (4.4a), (4.4b) and (4.4c) in eq. (5.3), we obtain the
differences of the refractive indices:

$$\Delta n_{BI}^{(B)}(k)\Big|_{\omega_{1B}^{(BI)}} = \left. \Delta n_{BI}^{(B)}(k) \right|_{\omega_{2B}^{(BI)}} \simeq \frac{g^2 B}{2} \frac{B\left(B^2 + \beta^2\right)}{m^2 \left(B^2 + \beta^2\right) + B^2 k^2}, \tag{5.4a}$$

$$\Delta n_{BI}^{(B)}(k)\Big|_{\omega_{3B}^{(BI)}} \simeq \frac{k}{\sqrt{k^2 + m^2}} - \sqrt{1 + \frac{B^2}{\beta^2}}, \qquad (5.4b)$$

where we have used the approximation $g^2 B \ll 1$. Notice that in eq. (5.4a), a very small (residual) birefringence remains in the model with g^2 -dependence. The result (5.4b) recovers the usual Maxwell ED when $\beta \to \infty$, and if we consider a very small mass for the axion-particle $m \simeq 0$.

The PVLAS-FE experiment presented the following result for the vacuum magnetic birefringence in ALPs [39]:

$$\frac{\Delta n^{\text{PVLAS-FE}}}{B^2} = (+19 \pm 27) \times 10^{-24} \,\mathrm{T}^{-2} \,. \tag{5.5}$$

In this situation, we have that B = 2.5 T and the wavelength of $\lambda = 1064$ nm (or equivalently, k = 0.185 eV). Let us consider the axion mass at m = 1 meV and BI parameter of $\sqrt{\beta} = 100 \text{ GeV}$. Using the results in eqs. (5.4a) and (5.5), we estimate the axion coupling constant as

$$g \simeq 9.065 \times 10^{-9} \,\mathrm{GeV}^{-1}\,,$$
 (5.6)

which is consistent with the upper bound $g < 6.4 \times 10^{-8} \,\text{GeV}^{-1} \,(95\% \,\text{C.L.})$ reported in this experiment.

5.2 Birefringence in the axion-BI model with an electric background field

The case with an electric background is similar to the previous subsection. We consider the same wave propagation direction, with the electric background $\mathbf{E} = E \hat{\mathbf{z}}$. In the first situation in which the electric wave amplitude \mathbf{e}_0 is parallel to \mathbf{E} , the correspondent refractive index is

$$n_{\parallel}^{(E)} = \sqrt{1 + \frac{d_1}{c_1} E^2} \,. \tag{5.7}$$

On the other hand, when \mathbf{e}_0 is perpendicular to \mathbf{E} , the refractive index leads to

$$n_{\perp}^{(E)}(k,\omega) = \left[1 - \frac{d_2}{c_1}E^2 - \frac{g^2}{c_1}\frac{E^2}{k^2 - \omega^2 + m^2}\right]^{-1/2}.$$
(5.8)

Thereby, the difference between the parallel and perpendicular refractive indices in the axion-BI model is

$$\Delta n_{BI}^{(E)}(k,\omega) = \left(1 - \frac{E^2}{\beta^2}\right)^{-1/2} - \left[1 - \frac{E^2}{\beta^2} - \frac{g^2 E^2}{k^2 - \omega^2 + m^2} \sqrt{1 - \frac{E^2}{\beta^2}}\right]^{-1/2}.$$
 (5.9)

The limit of the pure BI electrodynamics $(g \to 0)$ recovers the result of null birefringence in eq. (5.9). Furthermore, note that the difference (5.9) depends on the ω -function, that is function of the electric field and β -parameter. Substituting the dispersion relations (4.14a), (4.14b) and (4.14c) in eq. (5.9), we obtain

$$\Delta n_{BI}^{(E)}(k)\Big|_{\omega_{1E}^{(BI)}} = \Delta n_{BI}^{(E)}(k)\Big|_{\omega_{3E}^{(BI)}} \simeq -\frac{g^2 E}{2} \frac{E \beta^2}{(1 - E^2/\beta^2) (m^2\beta^2 + E^2k^2)}, \quad (5.10a)$$

$$\Delta n_{BI}^{(E)}(k)\Big|_{\omega_{2E}^{(BI)}} \simeq \left(1 - \frac{E^2}{\beta^2}\right)^{-1/2} - \frac{k}{\sqrt{k^2 + m^2}},$$
(5.10b)

in which the approximation for a weak electric field, $g^2 E \ll 1$, is applied. The result (5.10a) shows a very small effect of the birefringence with the g^2 dependence. In eq. (5.10b), the birefringence is null when $\beta \to \infty$ and the axion mass is approximately zero. In the approximation $\beta \gg Ek/m$, the result (5.10a) yields the electric birefringence

$$\frac{|\Delta n_{BI}^{(E)}|}{E^2} \simeq \frac{g^2}{2m^2} \,. \tag{5.11}$$

Therefore, this result can be used to constraint the parameter space (m, g) through the optical Kerr effect.

6 Concluding comments

In this paper, we investigate the properties of the electromagnetic (EM) wave propagation in a general non-linear electrodynamics coupled to the axion field. The non-linear sector is expanded up to the second order at the propagation fields in a uniform and constant EM background field. We obtain the correspondent field equations for the propagating EM and axion fields. Next, we investigate the dispersion relations and group velocities in the presence of magnetic and electric background fields, separately. The refractive indices associated with these dispersion relations depend on the wavelength due to contributions involving the axion mass (m) and coupling constant (g) in the magnetic background field. For the case of the electric background, the dependence on the wavelength occurs when $m \neq 0$. The permittivity and permeability tensors are calculated as function of the EM background and wave propagation frequencies. We study the conditions for these tensors to be positive through the eigenvalues of the permittivity and permeability matrices. We apply all the results for the Born-Infeld (BI) electrodynamics coupled to the axion field. Consequently, we obtain the wave propagation properties for the BI-axion model in magnetic and electric background fields. The results of the usual Maxwell electrodynamics are recovered when the BI parameter is very large, and the coupling with the axion goes to zero. The magnetic permeability is manifestly positive in the BI-axion model with a magnetic background, while one of the solutions for the electric permittivity to be positive imposes the condition (4.11) on the ω -frequency. Otherwise, if the ω -frequency satisfies the constraints

$$\omega < -\sqrt{\mathbf{k}^2 + m^2 + \frac{g^2 \mathbf{B}^2}{\sqrt{1 + \mathbf{B}^2/\beta^2}}} \quad \text{and} \quad \omega > \sqrt{\mathbf{k}^2 + m^2 + \frac{g^2 \mathbf{B}^2}{\sqrt{1 + \mathbf{B}^2/\beta^2}}}, \quad (6.1)$$

the medium can behave as a metamaterial. Similarly, in the axion-BI model with an electric background, the electric permittivity is positive if $\beta > |\mathbf{E}|$, and one of the solutions for the magnetic permeability to be positive constrains the ω -frequency in eq. (4.20).

To conclude, we have investigated the birefringence phenomena in the BI-axion model for the situations with magnetic and electric background fields, separately. We obtain the variation of the refractive indices (parallel and perpendicular to the electric propagating amplitude) as function of the k-wave number, ω -frequency, β -parameter and background fields in eqs. (5.3) and (5.9). Therefore, since we have three solutions for the ω -frequencies, the variation of the refractive index has also three possible solutions for the birefringence. In both the cases with magnetic or electric background fields, in the weak field regime, the variation of the refractive index is residual in g^2 , see eqs. (5.4a) and (5.10a). The third solution points out for the birefringence as a function of the β -parameter, axion mass and background fields, as described in eqs. (5.4b) and (5.10b). As we expect from usual electrodynamics, the absence of birefringence in these results is attained in the $\beta \to \infty$ limit, and for the axion mass approaching zero. In the case of the birefringence with magnetic background field, we use the results of the PVLAS-FE experiment, with $\sqrt{\beta} = 100 \,\text{GeV}, \lambda =$ 1064 nm and m = 1 meV, to obtain the axion coupling constant $g = 9.065 \times 10^{-9} \,\text{GeV}^{-1}$. This result agrees with the upper bound $q < 6.4 \times 10^{-8} \,\text{GeV}^{-1}$ (95% C.L.) in the PVLAS-FE experiment. The birefringence in the electric background case gives the result $q^2/(2m^2)$ in the regime of weak electric field. This result must be interesting in connection with the optical Kerr effect to constraint the parameter space (m, q) for the axion-like particle.

A The energy-momentum tensor of the axionic non-linear electrodynamics model

In this appendix, we address the recent discussion about the definition of Poynting vector in axionic electrodynamics. According to ref. [66], one could define two possible Poynting vectors in terms of the constitutive relations and electromagnetic fields, namely, $\mathbf{S}_{DB} \sim \mathbf{D} \times \mathbf{B}$ or $\mathbf{S}_{EH} \sim \mathbf{E} \times \mathbf{H}$, and the authors claim that the choice leads to different phenomenological results. This issue has also been discussed in refs. [67, 68], where the authors point out the relevance of considering terms of the order $O(g^2)$, to analyze the corresponding conservation law. Here, we follow our own path to tackle the question: we avoid to start

off from any definition; instead, we work exclusively with the field equations to naturally identify the expressions for the Poynting vector and the momentum density transported by the waves.

In what follows, we work out the energy-momentum tensor for the non-linear ED model coupled to the axion field in an electromagnetic background, as described by the Lagrangian (2.6). For this purpose, we contract the eq. (2.7) with $f^{\nu\alpha}$ and using the Bianchi identity, we arrive at

$$\partial^{\mu} \left[c_{1}f_{\mu\nu}f^{\nu\alpha} - \frac{1}{2}Q_{B\mu\nu\kappa\lambda}f^{\kappa\lambda}f^{\nu\alpha} + g\widetilde{\phi}\widetilde{F}_{B\mu\nu}f^{\nu\alpha} - \delta^{\alpha}_{\mu} \left(-\frac{1}{4}c_{1}f_{\rho\sigma}^{2} + \frac{1}{8}Q_{B\rho\sigma\kappa\lambda}f^{\rho\sigma}f^{\kappa\lambda} - \frac{1}{2}g\widetilde{\phi}\widetilde{F}_{B\rho\sigma}f^{\rho\sigma} \right) \right] = J_{\nu}f^{\nu\alpha} + \frac{1}{4}\left(\partial^{\alpha}c_{1}\right)f_{\mu\nu}^{2} + \frac{1}{4}\left(\partial^{\alpha}c_{2}\right)\widetilde{f}_{\mu\nu}f^{\mu\nu} - \frac{1}{8}\left(\partial^{\alpha}Q_{B\mu\nu\kappa\lambda}\right)f^{\mu\nu}f^{\kappa\lambda} + \frac{1}{2}g\left(\partial^{\alpha}\widetilde{\phi}\right)\widetilde{F}_{B\mu\nu}f^{\mu\nu} + \frac{1}{2}g\widetilde{\phi}\left(\partial^{\alpha}\widetilde{F}_{B\mu\nu}\right)f^{\mu\nu} - \left(\partial^{\mu}H_{B\mu\nu}\right)f^{\nu\alpha}.$$
(A.1)

Now, we multiply the axion field equation (2.8) by $\partial^{\alpha} \tilde{\phi}$ and, after some algebraic manipulations, we end up with

$$\partial^{\mu} \left\{ \partial_{\mu} \widetilde{\phi} \, \partial^{\alpha} \widetilde{\phi} - \delta_{\mu}^{\ \alpha} \left[\frac{1}{2} \, (\partial_{\nu} \widetilde{\phi})^2 - \frac{1}{2} \, m^2 \, \widetilde{\phi}^2 \right] \right\} = -\frac{1}{2} \, g \, \widetilde{F}_{B\mu\nu} \, f^{\mu\nu} \, \partial^{\alpha} \widetilde{\phi} \,. \tag{A.2}$$

The sum of the equations (A.1) with (A.2) yields the result

$$\partial^{\mu} \Theta_{\mu}^{\ \alpha} = \Omega^{\alpha} \,, \tag{A.3}$$

where the energy-momentum tensor of the system is given by

$$\Theta_{\mu}^{\ \alpha} = (\partial_{\mu}\widetilde{\phi}) (\partial^{\alpha}\widetilde{\phi}) + c_{1} f_{\mu\nu} f^{\nu\alpha} - \frac{1}{2} Q_{B\mu\nu\kappa\lambda} f^{\kappa\lambda} f^{\nu\alpha} + g \widetilde{\phi} \widetilde{F}_{B\mu\nu} f^{\nu\alpha} - \delta_{\mu}^{\ \alpha} \left[-\frac{1}{4} c_{1} f_{\rho\sigma}^{2} + \frac{1}{8} Q_{B\rho\sigma\kappa\lambda} f^{\rho\sigma} f^{\kappa\lambda} + \frac{1}{2} (\partial_{\rho}\widetilde{\phi})^{2} - \frac{1}{2} m^{2} \widetilde{\phi}^{2} - \frac{1}{2} g \widetilde{\phi} \widetilde{F}_{B\rho\sigma} f^{\rho\sigma} \right],$$
(A.4)

and Ω_{α} corresponds to the dissipative terms, namely,

$$\Omega^{\alpha} = J_{\nu} f^{\nu\alpha} + \frac{1}{2} g \widetilde{\phi} \left(\partial^{\alpha} \widetilde{F}_{B\mu\nu} \right) f^{\mu\nu} - \left(\partial^{\mu} H_{B\mu\nu} \right) f^{\nu\alpha} + \frac{1}{4} \left(\partial^{\alpha} c_{1} \right) f_{\mu\nu}^{2} + \frac{1}{4} \left(\partial^{\alpha} c_{2} \right) \widetilde{f}_{\mu\nu} f^{\mu\nu} - \frac{1}{8} \left(\partial^{\alpha} Q_{B\mu\nu\kappa\lambda} \right) f^{\mu\nu} f^{\kappa\lambda}.$$
(A.5)

The energy-momentum tensor (A.4) exhibits the well-known contributions of nonlinear electrodynamics and axion field. Furthermore, due the presence of an electromagnetic background, we also obtain axion-photon mixing terms related to $\tilde{\phi} \tilde{F}_{B\mu\nu} f^{\nu\alpha}$ and $\tilde{\phi} \delta_{\mu}^{\ \alpha} \tilde{F}_{B\rho\sigma} f^{\rho\sigma}$. We highlight that our result does not include the influence of magnetic monopoles because we used the Bianchi identity. Notice that Ω^{α} contains the usual contribution $J_{\nu} f^{\nu\alpha}$ and other terms involving derivatives of the background fields. For the particular case of vanishing axion field, we recover the results discussed in ref. [65]. We point out that the energy-momentum tensor is not symmetric, $\Theta^{\mu\alpha} \neq \Theta^{\alpha\mu}$, due to the background terms $Q_{B\mu\nu\kappa\lambda} f^{\kappa\lambda} f^{\nu\alpha}$ and $g \tilde{\phi} \tilde{F}_{B\mu\nu} f^{\nu\alpha}$. This fact also happens in scenarios with Lorentz symmetry violation (see, for instance, refs. [69, 70]). If we consider a uniform and constant electromagnetic background with $J^{\mu} = 0$, the eq. (A.3) leads to the conservation law $\partial^{\mu}\Theta^{\alpha}_{\mu} = 0$. When $\alpha = 0$, we obtain

$$\partial_t u + \nabla \cdot \mathbf{S} = 0, \qquad (A.6)$$

where $u := \Theta^{00}$ denotes the energy density,

$$u = \frac{1}{2} (\partial_t \widetilde{\phi})^2 + \frac{1}{2} (\nabla \widetilde{\phi})^2 + \frac{1}{2} m^2 \widetilde{\phi}^2 + \frac{1}{2} c_1 \left(\mathbf{e}^2 + \mathbf{b}^2 \right) + \frac{1}{2} d_1 \left(\mathbf{e} \cdot \mathbf{E} \right)^2 + \frac{1}{2} d_2 \left(\mathbf{e} \cdot \mathbf{B} \right)^2 - \frac{1}{2} d_1 \left(\mathbf{b} \cdot \mathbf{B} \right)^2 - \frac{1}{2} d_2 \left(\mathbf{b} \cdot \mathbf{E} \right)^2 + d_3 \left(\mathbf{e} \cdot \mathbf{E} \right) \left(\mathbf{e} \cdot \mathbf{B} \right) + d_3 \left(\mathbf{b} \cdot \mathbf{E} \right) \left(\mathbf{b} \cdot \mathbf{B} \right) + g \widetilde{\phi} \left(\mathbf{b} \cdot \mathbf{E} \right) + g \widetilde{\phi} \left(\mathbf{e} \cdot \mathbf{B} \right),$$
(A.7)

and **S** corresponds to the Poynting vector, whose components are defined by $S^i := \Theta^{i0}$, such that

$$S^{i} = (\partial^{i} \widetilde{\phi}) (\partial_{t} \widetilde{\phi}) + c_{1} (\mathbf{e} \times \mathbf{b})^{i} + d_{1} (\mathbf{e} \cdot \mathbf{E}) (\mathbf{e} \times \mathbf{B})^{i}$$
$$-d_{1} (\mathbf{b} \cdot \mathbf{B}) (\mathbf{e} \times \mathbf{B})^{i} - d_{2} (\mathbf{e} \cdot \mathbf{B}) (\mathbf{e} \times \mathbf{E})^{i} - d_{2} (\mathbf{b} \cdot \mathbf{E}) (\mathbf{e} \times \mathbf{E})^{i}$$
$$+d_{3} (\mathbf{e} \cdot \mathbf{B}) (\mathbf{e} \times \mathbf{B})^{i} - d_{3} (\mathbf{e} \cdot \mathbf{E}) (\mathbf{e} \times \mathbf{E})^{i} + d_{3} (\mathbf{b} \cdot \mathbf{E}) (\mathbf{e} \times \mathbf{B})^{i}$$
$$-d_{3} (\mathbf{b} \cdot \mathbf{B}) (\mathbf{e} \times \mathbf{B})^{i} - g \widetilde{\phi} (\mathbf{e} \times \mathbf{E})^{i} .$$
(A.8)

For $\alpha = j$, the conservation law is written as

$$\partial_t \mathbf{P} + \nabla \cdot \overleftarrow{\mathbf{T}} = \mathbf{0}, \qquad (A.9)$$

where **P** stands for the momentum, with the components $P^i := \Theta^{0i}$ given by

$$P^{i} = (\partial_{t}\widetilde{\phi}) (\partial^{i}\widetilde{\phi}) + c_{1} (\mathbf{e} \times \mathbf{b})^{i} - d_{1} (\mathbf{e} \cdot \mathbf{E}) (\mathbf{E} \times \mathbf{b})^{i} -d_{1} (\mathbf{b} \cdot \mathbf{B}) (\mathbf{E} \times \mathbf{b})^{i} - d_{2} (\mathbf{e} \cdot \mathbf{B}) (\mathbf{B} \times \mathbf{b})^{i} +d_{2} (\mathbf{b} \cdot \mathbf{E}) (\mathbf{B} \times \mathbf{b})^{i} - d_{3} (\mathbf{e} \cdot \mathbf{B}) (\mathbf{E} \times \mathbf{b})^{i} -d_{3} (\mathbf{e} \cdot \mathbf{E}) (\mathbf{B} \times \mathbf{b})^{i} - d_{3} (\mathbf{b} \cdot \mathbf{B}) (\mathbf{B} \times \mathbf{b})^{i} +d_{3} (\mathbf{b} \cdot \mathbf{E}) (\mathbf{E} \times \mathbf{b})^{i} + g \widetilde{\phi} (\mathbf{B} \times \mathbf{b})^{i} , \qquad (A.10)$$

and $\overleftarrow{\mathbf{T}}$ denotes the stress tensor, whose components $(\overleftarrow{\mathbf{T}})^{ij} := \Theta^{ij}$ yield the expression

$$(\mathbf{\widehat{T}})^{ij} = (\partial^{i}\widetilde{\phi}) (\partial^{j}\widetilde{\phi}) - c_{1}(e^{i}e^{j} + b^{i}b^{j}) - d_{1}(\mathbf{e}\cdot\mathbf{E}) E^{i}e^{j} - d_{2}(\mathbf{e}\cdot\mathbf{B}) B^{i}e^{j} + d_{1}(\mathbf{b}\cdot\mathbf{B}) E^{i}e^{j} - d_{2}(\mathbf{b}\cdot\mathbf{E}) B^{i}e^{j} - d_{1}(\mathbf{e}\cdot\mathbf{E}) b^{i}B^{j} + d_{2}(\mathbf{e}\cdot\mathbf{B}) b^{i}E^{j} + d_{1}(\mathbf{b}\cdot\mathbf{B}) b^{i}B^{j} + d_{2}(\mathbf{b}\cdot\mathbf{E}) b^{i}E^{j} - d_{3}(\mathbf{e}\cdot\mathbf{B}) E^{i}e^{j} - d_{3}(\mathbf{e}\cdot\mathbf{E}) B^{i}e^{j} - d_{3}(\mathbf{b}\cdot\mathbf{E}) E^{i}e^{j} + d_{3}(\mathbf{b}\cdot\mathbf{B}) B^{i}e^{j} - d_{3}(\mathbf{e}\cdot\mathbf{B}) b^{i}B^{j} + d_{3}(\mathbf{e}\cdot\mathbf{E}) b^{i}E^{j} - d_{3}(\mathbf{b}\cdot\mathbf{E}) b^{i}B^{j} - d_{3}(\mathbf{b}\cdot\mathbf{B}) b^{i}E^{j} + g\widetilde{\phi}(b^{i}E^{j} - B^{i}e^{j}).$$
(A.11)

The presence of an electromagnetic background introduces some interesting features. Firstly, the energy density of the model acquires new contributions involving the axion field, given by $g \tilde{\phi} (\mathbf{b} \cdot \mathbf{E})$ and $g \tilde{\phi} (\mathbf{e} \cdot \mathbf{B})$. In addition, from the eqs. (A.8) and (A.10), we conclude that the Poynting vector does not coincide with the linear momentum. However, as already expected, both equations lead to the same expression if the electromagnetic background is switched of.

Finally, it should be mentioned that using the above definitions for $u, \mathbf{S}, \mathbf{P}$ and $\overleftarrow{\mathbf{T}}$, based on the conservation laws (A.6) and (A.9), the results will be consistent.

Acknowledgments

The work of M. J. Neves has been supported by the Conselho Nacional de Desenvolvimento Científico e Tecnológico (CNPq) under grant 313467/2018-8 (GM). L. P. R. Ospedal is grateful to CNPq for his Post-Doctoral Fellowship. He thanks the COSMO-CBPF group for their friendly hospitality when part of this work was developed. The work of J. M. A. Paixão has been supported by CNPq.

The authors also express their gratitude to P. Gaete and A. Spallicci for long and stimulating discussions.

Open Access. This article is distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC-BY 4.0), which permits any use, distribution and reproduction in any medium, provided the original author(s) and source are credited. SCOAP³ supports the goals of the International Year of Basic Sciences for Sustainable Development.

References

- R.D. Peccei and H.R. Quinn, CP Conservation in the Presence of Instantons, Phys. Rev. Lett. 38 (1977) 1440 [INSPIRE].
- [2] R.D. Peccei and H.R. Quinn, Constraints Imposed by CP Conservation in the Presence of Instantons, Phys. Rev. D 16 (1977) 1791 [INSPIRE].
- [3] J. Preskill, M.B. Wise and F. Wilczek, Cosmology of the Invisible Axion, Phys. Lett. B 120 (1983) 127 [INSPIRE].
- [4] L.F. Abbott and P. Sikivie, A Cosmological Bound on the Invisible Axion, Phys. Lett. B 120 (1983) 133 [INSPIRE].
- [5] M. Dine and W. Fischler, The Not So Harmless Axion, Phys. Lett. B 120 (1983) 137 [INSPIRE].
- [6] A. Ayala, I. Domínguez, M. Giannotti, A. Mirizzi and O. Straniero, Revisiting the bound on axion-photon coupling from Globular Clusters, Phys. Rev. Lett. 113 (2014) 191302
 [arXiv:1406.6053] [INSPIRE].
- [7] C.S. Reynolds et al., Astrophysical limits on very light axion-like particles from Chandra grating spectroscopy of NGC 1275, Astrophys. J. 890 (2020) 59 [arXiv:1907.05475]
 [INSPIRE].
- [8] K. Bondarenko, A. Boyarsky, J. Pradler and A. Sokolenko, Neutron stars as photon double-lenses: constraining resonant conversion into ALPs, arXiv:2203.08663 [INSPIRE].
- [9] CAST collaboration, New CAST Limit on the Axion-Photon Interaction, Nature Phys. 13 (2017) 584 [arXiv:1705.02290] [INSPIRE].

- [10] L. Schoeffel, C. Baldenegro, H. Hamdaoui, S. Hassani, C. Royon and M. Saimpert, Photon-photon physics at the LHC and laser beam experiments, present and future, Prog. Part. Nucl. Phys. 120 (2021) 103889 [arXiv:2010.07855] [INSPIRE].
- [11] C. Baldenegro, S. Fichet, G. von Gersdorff and C. Royon, Searching for axion-like particles with proton tagging at the LHC, JHEP 06 (2018) 131 [arXiv:1803.10835] [INSPIRE].
- [12] C. Baldenegro, S. Hassani, C. Royon and L. Schoeffel, Extending the constraint for axion-like particles as resonances at the LHC and laser beam experiments, Phys. Lett. B 795 (2019) 339 [arXiv:1903.04151] [INSPIRE].
- [13] D. d'Enterria, Collider constraints on axion-like particles, in Workshop on Feebly Interacting Particles, 2, 2021 [arXiv:2102.08971] [INSPIRE].
- [14] J.S. Schwinger, On gauge invariance and vacuum polarization, Phys. Rev. 82 (1951) 664 [INSPIRE].
- [15] R.C. Duncan and C. Thompson, Formation of very strongly magnetized neutron stars implications for gamma-ray bursts, Astrophys. J. Lett. 392 (1992) L9 [INSPIRE].
- [16] S. Jacobsen, T. Linden and K. Freese, Constraining Axion-Like Particles with HAWC Observations of TeV Blazars, arXiv:2203.04332 [INSPIRE].
- [17] A.C. Keser, Y. Lyanda-Geller and O.P. Sushkov, Nonlinear Quantum Electrodynamics in Dirac Materials, Phys. Rev. Lett. 128 (2022) 066402 [arXiv:2101.09714] [INSPIRE].
- [18] J. Plebanski, Lectures on nonlinear electrodynamics, Cycle of lectures delivered at The Niels Bohr Institute and NORDITA, Copenhagen (October 1968).
- [19] G. Boillat, Nonlinear electrodynamics Lagrangians and equations of motion, J. Math. Phys. 11 (1970) 941 [INSPIRE].
- [20] Z. Bialynicka-Birula and I. Bialynicki-Birula, Nonlinear effects in Quantum Electrodynamics. Photon propagation and photon splitting in an external field, Phys. Rev. D 2 (1970) 2341 [INSPIRE].
- [21] I. Bialynicki-Birula, Nonlinear Electrodynamics: Variations on a theme by Born and Infeld, in B. Jancewicz and J. Lukierski eds., Quantum Theory of Particles and Fields: birthday volume dedicated to Jan Lopuszański, World Scientific (1983) p. 31.
- [22] D.P. Sorokin, Introductory Notes on Non-linear Electrodynamics and its Applications, Fortsch. Phys. 70 (2022) 2200092 [arXiv:2112.12118] [INSPIRE].
- [23] H. Babaei-Aghbolagh, K.B. Velni, D.M. Yekta and H. Mohammadzadeh, Emergence of non-linear electrodynamic theories from TT⁻-like deformations, Phys. Lett. B 829 (2022) 137079 [arXiv:2202.11156] [INSPIRE].
- [24] H. Babaei-Aghbolagh, K.B. Velni, D.M. Yekta and H. Mohammadzadeh, TT-like flows in non-linear electrodynamic theories and S-duality, JHEP 04 (2021) 187 [arXiv:2012.13636]
 [INSPIRE].
- [25] M. Born and L. Infeld, Foundations of the new field theory, Proc. Roy. Soc. Lond. A 144 (1934) 425 [INSPIRE].
- [26] E.M. Murchikova, On nonlinear classical electrodynamics with an axionic term, J. Phys. A 44 (2011) 045401 [arXiv:1005.5027] [INSPIRE].
- [27] E.S. Fradkin and A.A. Tseytlin, Nonlinear Electrodynamics from Quantized Strings, Phys. Lett. B 163 (1985) 123 [INSPIRE].

- [28] E. Bergshoeff, E. Sezgin, C.N. Pope and P.K. Townsend, The Born-Infeld Action From Conformal Invariance of the Open Superstring, Phys. Lett. B 188 (1987) 70 [INSPIRE].
- [29] R. Banerjee and D. Roychowdhury, Critical behavior of Born Infeld AdS black holes in higher dimensions, Phys. Rev. D 85 (2012) 104043 [arXiv:1203.0118] [INSPIRE].
- [30] S. Gunasekaran, R.B. Mann and D. Kubiznak, Extended phase space thermodynamics for charged and rotating black holes and Born-Infeld vacuum polarization, JHEP 11 (2012) 110 [arXiv:1208.6251] [INSPIRE].
- [31] E. Ayon-Beato and A. Garcia, *The Bardeen model as a nonlinear magnetic monopole*, *Phys. Lett. B* **493** (2000) 149 [gr-qc/0009077] [INSPIRE].
- [32] P. Niau Akmansoy and L.G. Medeiros, Constraining Born-Infeld-like nonlinear electrodynamics using hydrogen's ionization energy, Eur. Phys. J. C 78 (2018) 143 [arXiv:1712.05486] [INSPIRE].
- [33] P. Niau Akmansoy and L.G. Medeiros, Constraining nonlinear corrections to Maxwell electrodynamics using $\gamma\gamma$ scattering, Phys. Rev. D **99** (2019) 115005 [arXiv:1809.01296] [INSPIRE].
- [34] J. Ellis, N.E. Mavromatos and T. You, Light-by-Light Scattering Constraint on Born-Infeld Theory, Phys. Rev. Lett. 118 (2017) 261802 [arXiv:1703.08450] [INSPIRE].
- [35] M.J. Neves, L.P.R. Ospedal, J.A. Helayël-Neto and P. Gaete, Considerations on anomalous photon and Z-boson self-couplings from the Born-Infeld weak hypercharge action, Eur. Phys. J. C 82 (2022) 327 [arXiv:2109.11004] [INSPIRE].
- [36] R. Battesti and C. Rizzo, Magnetic and electric properties of quantum vacuum, Rept. Prog. Phys. 76 (2013) 016401 [arXiv:1211.1933] [INSPIRE].
- [37] W. Heisenberg and H. Euler, Consequences of Dirac's theory of positrons, Z. Phys. 98 (1936)
 714 [physics/0605038] [INSPIRE].
- [38] V. S. Weisskopf, Über die elektrodynamik des vakuums auf grund des quanten-theorie des elektrons, Dan. Mat. Fys. Medd. 14 (1936) 1.
- [39] A. Ejlli et al., The PVLAS experiment: A 25 year effort to measure vacuum magnetic birefringence, Phys. Rept. 871 (2020) 1 [arXiv:2005.12913] [INSPIRE].
- [40] G. Zavattini, U. Gastaldi, R. Pengo, G. Ruoso, F. Della Valle and E. Milotti, Measuring the magnetic birefringence of vacuum: the PVLAS experiment, Int. J. Mod. Phys. A 27 (2012) 1260017 [arXiv:1201.2309] [INSPIRE].
- [41] F. Della Valle et al., The PVLAS experiment: measuring vacuum magnetic birefringence and dichroism with a birefringent Fabry-Perot cavity, Eur. Phys. J. C 76 (2016) 24
 [arXiv:1510.08052] [INSPIRE].
- [42] G. Zavattini and F. Della Valle, Optical Polarimetry for Fundamental Physics, Universe 7 (2021) 252 [INSPIRE].
- [43] R.P. Mignani, V. Testa, D. Gonzalez Caniulef, R. Taverna, R. Turolla, S. Zane and K. Wu, Evidence for vacuum birefringence from the first optical polarimetry measurement of the isolated neutron star RX J1856. 5-3754, Monthly Not. Roy. Astron. Soc. (2016) stw2798.
- [44] T. Yamazaki et al., Repeating Pulsed Magnet System for Axion-like Particle Searches and Vacuum Birefringence Experiments, Nucl. Instrum. Meth. A 833 (2016) 122
 [arXiv:1604.06556] [INSPIRE].

- [45] L. Maiani, R. Petronzio and E. Zavattini, Effects of Nearly Massless, Spin Zero Particles on Light Propagation in a Magnetic Field, Phys. Lett. B 175 (1986) 359 [INSPIRE].
- [46] S. Villalba-Chavez and A. Piazza, Axion-induced birefringence effects in laser driven nonlinear vacuum interaction, JHEP 11 (2013) 136 [arXiv:1307.7935] [INSPIRE].
- [47] S. Robertson, Optical Kerr effect in vacuum, Phys. Rev. A 100 (2019) 063831
 [arXiv:1908.00896] [INSPIRE].
- [48] G.L.J.A. Rikken and C. Rizzo, Magnetoelectric birefringences of the quantum vacuum, Phys. Rev. A 63 (2001) 012107 [INSPIRE].
- [49] G. Raffelt and L. Stodolsky, Mixing of the Photon with Low Mass Particles, Phys. Rev. D 37 (1988) 1237 [INSPIRE].
- [50] P. Gaete, Some Considerations About Podolsky-Axionic Electrodynamics, Int. J. Mod. Phys. A 27 (2012) 1250061 [arXiv:1110.4816] [INSPIRE].
- [51] P. Gaete and I. Schmidt, Properties of noncommutative axionic electrodynamics, Phys. Rev. D 76 (2007) 027702 [arXiv:0706.3176] [INSPIRE].
- [52] P. Gaete and E. Spallucci, Finite axionic electrodynamics from a new noncommutative approach, J. Phys. A 45 (2012) 065401 [arXiv:1102.3777] [INSPIRE].
- [53] C.-D. Li and Y.-F. Cheng, Proca effects of axion-like particle-photon interactions on light polarization in external magnetic fields, Int. J. Theor. Phys. 47 (2008) 1911 [INSPIRE].
- [54] B.A.S.D. Chrispim, R.C.L. Bruni and M.S. Guimaraes, Massive photon propagator in the presence of axionic fluctuations, Phys. Rev. B 103 (2021) 165120 [arXiv:2012.00184]
 [INSPIRE].
- [55] F.P. Huang and H.-S. Lee, Extension of the electrodynamics in the presence of the axion and dark photon, Int. J. Mod. Phys. A 34 (2019) 1950012 [arXiv:1806.09972] [INSPIRE].
- [56] P. Arias, A. Arza, J. Jaeckel and D. Vargas-Arancibia, Hidden Photon Dark Matter Interacting via Axion-like Particles, JCAP 05 (2021) 070 [arXiv:2007.12585] [INSPIRE].
- [57] P.D.S. Silva, L. Lisboa-Santos, M.M. Ferreira, Jr. and M. Schreck, Effects of CPT-odd terms of dimensions three and five on electromagnetic propagation in continuous matter, Phys. Rev. D 104 (2021) 116023 [arXiv:2109.04659] [INSPIRE].
- [58] P.D.S. Silva, R. Casana and M.M. Ferreira, Jr., Symmetric and antisymmetric constitutive tensors for bi-isotropic and bi-anisotropic media, Phys. Rev. A 106 (2022) 042205 [arXiv:2204.10460] [INSPIRE].
- [59] L.H.C. Borges, A.G. Dias, A.F. Ferrari, J.R. Nascimento and A.Y. Petrov, Generation of axionlike couplings via quantum corrections in a Lorentz-violating background, Phys. Rev. D 89 (2014) 045005 [arXiv:1304.5484] [INSPIRE].
- [60] P. Sikivie, Invisible Axion Search Methods, Rev. Mod. Phys. 93 (2021) 015004 [arXiv:2003.02206] [INSPIRE].
- [61] PARTICLE DATA GROUP collaboration, *Review of Particle Physics*, and 2021 update, *PTEP* **2020** (2020) 083C01 [INSPIRE].
- [62] C. Caloz and T. Itoh, Electromagnetic metamaterials: Transmission line theory and microwave applications, John Wiley & sons, INC. (2006), pg. 03.
- [63] V. Veselago, The electrodynamics of substances with simultaneously negative permissibility and permittivity, Sov. Phys. Uspekhi 10 (1968) 50.

- [64] W.J. Padilla, D.N. Basov and D.R. Smith, Negative refractive index metamaterials, Materials today 9 (2006) 28.
- [65] M.J. Neves, J.B. de Oliveira, L.P.R. Ospedal and J.A. Helayël-Neto, Dispersion relations in nonlinear electrodynamics and the kinematics of the Compton effect in a magnetic background, Phys. Rev. D 104 (2021) 015006 [arXiv:2101.03642] [INSPIRE].
- [66] M.E. Tobar, B.T. McAllister and M. Goryachev, Poynting vector controversy in axion modified electrodynamics, Phys. Rev. D 105 (2022) 045009 [arXiv:2109.04056] [INSPIRE].
- [67] K. Zhou, Comment on "Poynting vector controversy in axion modified electrodynamics", arXiv:2203.15821 [INSPIRE].
- [68] A. Patkos, Radiation Backreaction in Axion Electrodynamics, Symmetry 14 (2022) 1113 [arXiv:2206.02052] [INSPIRE].
- [69] L. Bonetti, L.R. dos Santos Filho, J.A. Helayël-Neto and A.D.A.M. Spallicci, Photon sector analysis of Super and Lorentz symmetry breaking: effective photon mass, bi-refringence and dissipation, Eur. Phys. J. C 78 (2018) 811 [arXiv:1709.04995] [INSPIRE].
- [70] J.A. Helayël-Neto and A.D.A.M. Spallicci, Frequency variation for in vacuo photon propagation in the Standard-Model Extension, Eur. Phys. J. C 79 (2019) 590
 [arXiv:1904.11035] [INSPIRE].